VOLUME 43, No. 4

CIRUJANO GENERAL 2021



Internet: http://www.amcg.org.mx www.medigraphic.com/cirujanogeneral

Official Scientific Publication of the ASOCIACIÓN MEXICANA DE CIRUGÍA GENERAL, A.C. E-mail: revista@amcg.org.mx

Indexed at ILLACS, BIRENTE OPS





Official Scientific Organ of the Mexican Association of General Surgery, A.C.

Editorial Board

Erich Otto Paul Basurto Kuba, MD José Lorenzo De la Garza Villaseñor, MD José Fenig Rodríguez, MD Gilberto López Betancourt, MD Luis Sigler Morales, MD

Editor-in-Chief

Abilene C. Escamilla Ortiz, MD

Co-Editor

María Eugenia Ordoñez Gutiérrez, MD

National Editorial Committee

Víctor Manuel Arrubarrena Aragón, MD Tomás Barrientos Forte, MD Carlos Belmonte Montes, MD Luis Eduardo Cárdenas Lailson, MD Héctor Armando Cisneros Muñoz, MD Jorge Cueto García, MD José J. Christen y Florencia, MD Juan De Dios Díaz Rosales, MD María del Sol García Ortegón, MD Angélica González Muñoz, MD Alejandro González Ojeda, MD César Gutiérrez Samperio, MD Leopoldo Guzmán Navarro, MD Enrique Jiménez Chavarría, MD Sergio Arturo Lee Rojo, MD Adriana Elizabeth Liceaga Fuentes, MD Juan Carlos Mayagoitia González, MD Carlos Melgoza Ortiz, MD

José G. Montes-Castañeda, MD Álvaro José Montiel Jarquín, MD Efraín Moreno Gutiérrez, MD Fernando Palacio Pizano, MD Emilio Prieto Díaz Chávez, MD Martha E. Ramírez Martínez, MD Gabino Ramos Hernández, MD⁺ Carlos Agustín Rodríguez Paz, MD Edgardo Román Guzmán, MD Eric Romero Arredondo, MD Miguel Ángel Rosado Martínez, MD Juan Roberto Torres Cisneros, MD Jorge Alejandro Vázquez Carpizo, MD Marco Antonio Vázquez Rosales, MD David Velázguez Fernández, MD J. Dolores Velázquez Mendoza, MD Felipe Rafael Zaldivar Ramírez, MD Eduardo Zazueta Quirarte, MD

International Editorial Committee

Jaime Escallón, MD Carlos Fernández del Castillo, MD Julio García Aguilar, MD Aurelio Rodríguez Vitela, MD Luis Horacio Toledo-Pereyra, MD Hugo Villar Valdez, MD Kenneth L. Mattox, MD Miguel A. Carbajo Caballero, MD

Statistical Advisor

Martha Carnalla Cortés, MSc

Editorial Assistan

María Angélica Monterrubio Bobadilla

Translator

Víctor de la Garza Estrada, MD

Cirujano General is the scientific communication organ of the Mexican Association of General Surgery, published quarterly. The rights of translation, typographical and production features, including electronic media, are reserved in accordance with the law governing the signatory countries of the Pan-American and International Conventions on copyright. Postage paid. Periodical publication; Registration No. 0540593. Characteristics 220251118. All rights reserved. 1986 Asociación Mexicana de Cirugia General, with certificate number 5887, file 1/432"91"77570 issued on April 23, 1991, and certificate number 4389, file 1/432"91"77570 issued on April 23, 1991, by the certifying commission of publications and illustrated magazines of the Secretaría de Gobernación (Secretary of the Interior). The intellectual property and responsibility of the signed articles and photographs revert to the authors; however, only the Mexican Association of General Surgery, through its editor, may authorize any type of total or partial reproduction that may be required. Cirujano General Surgerphic Literatura Biomédica, PERIODICA, Indice de Revistas Latinoamericanas en Ciencias y Salud: Ciencia (Sociedad Iberoamericana de Información Científica).

Designed, produced, and primted in Mexico by: Ugraphimedic tels: 55-85-89-85-27 to 32. E-mail: emyc@medigraphic.com Printed in Mexico.

Available in full version at: www.medigraphic.com/cirujanogeneral



Asociación Mexicana de Cirugía General, A.C.

Directive Board 2020-2021

President Saúl Ocampo González, MD

Vice-president Miguel Francisco Herrera Hernández, MD

> Second Vice-president Jordán Zamora Godínez, MD

General Secretary Luis Manuel García Núñez, MD

Second Secretary AMCG Marco Antonio Loera Torres, MD

Treasurer Gustavo Olmos Ramírez, MD

Executive Manager FMCECG Juan Roberto Torres Cisneros, MD

Executive Director AMCG Eric Romero Arredondo, MD

Administrative Director AMCG Alejandro Cuellar Ramírez, MR

Committee of Quality Management Ana Mariel Morales Aguirre, MD Jacobo Choy Gómez, MD

Committee of Female Surgeons Adriana Josephine Jáuregui Soto, MD

Committee of Safety for Surgical Patient María Enriqueta Barido Murguía, MD

> Sub-committee of Safety for Surgical Patient Daniel Enciso Pérez, MD Julio Ceésar Naranjo Chávez, MD

Local Committee 45° Congress 2021 at Guadalajara Carlos Benítez Sánchez, MD José Arróniz Jáuregui, MD Manuel Antonio Cañedo Rendón, MD

Legal Medical Committee Jorge Luis Mariñelarena Mariñelarena, MD

> Sub-committee of experts Carlos Manuel Díaz Salazar, MD

Coordinator of Editorial Committee Abilene Cirenia Escamilla Ortiz, MD Coordinator of Virtual Academy Rosa María Guzmán Aguilar, MD

Sub-coordinators of Virtual Academy Alejandro Germán Serrano Peña, MD Francisco Javier Haro Valdez, MD

Coordinators of CECMI

Mauricio Sierra Salazar, MD José Luis Beristain Hernández, MD Marco Antonio Loera Torres, MD Víctor Manuel Pinto Angulo, MD

Coordinators of CECMI Monterrey Adriana Chaparro Delgadillo, MD José Tulio Puente de la Garza, MD

Sub-coordinator of CECMI Monterrey Carlos Humberto Pimentel Nieto, MD

Coordinator of Scientific Committee David Velázquez Fernández, MD

Coordinator of Courses PG1 Héctor Leonardo Pimentel Mestre, MD

Coordinator of Courses PG1 (Practical) Vicente González Ruíz, MD

> **Coordinator of Courses PG2** Enrique Jiménez Chavarría, MD Rafael Humberto Pérez Soto, MD

Coordinators of ECOS International Ángel Escudero Fabre, MD César Romero Mejía, MD Marco Antonio Loera Torres, MD

Coordinator of Surgical Video Library Elmo Ramiro Aramburo Inzunza, MD

Sub-coordinator of Surgical Video Library Rafael Vizcarra Moran, MD

Coordinator of International Professors Juan Pablo Pantoja Hernández, MD

Coordinator of Social Networks Diana Gabriela Maldonado Pintado, MD

Subcoordinator of Social Networks Tania Angélica de la Fuente Vera, MD

Coordinator of Regional Meetings Ricardo Martínez Abundis, MD Subcoordinator of Regional Meetings Shadya Betancourt Vicencio, MD

Coordinator of Congress Symposia Gustavo Linden Pérez Gavilán, MD

Coordinator of Virtual International Symposia Luis Alfonso Martín del Campo González, MD

> Subcoordinators of Internations Virtual Symposia Paulina Carpinteyro Espin, MD Luis Espino Urbina, MD

Coordinator of Incorporated Societies Javier Carrillo Silva, MD

Coordinators of Free Papers Carlos Martínez Nuño Guzmán, MD José Luis Martínez Ordaz, MD

Coordinator of Clinical Movies Samuel Kleinfinger Marcuschamer, MD

Coordinator of Attention to Associates María Graciela Zermeño Gómez, MD

Sub-coordinators of the Committee of Attention to Associates Rafael Abril Andara, MD Vanessa Ortiz Higareda, MD

Coordinator of the Committee of Continuing Medical Education María Eugenia Ordoñez Gutiérrez, MD

Coordinator of the Committee of Clinical Simulation José Arturo Vázquez Vázquez, MD

Subcoordinators of the Committee of Clinical Simulation Alfonso Hernández Higareda, MD Tanya Gisela Reves Herrera, MD

Coordinator of the Committee of Scientific Research Alejandra Guillermina Miranda Díaz, MD

Sub-coordinators of the Committee of Scientific Research Amador Covarrubias Pinedo, MD Clotilde Fuentes Orozco, MD

CONTENTS

Cirujano General

October-December 2021 Vol. 43, no. 4

EDITORIAL

The results in a scientific paper Abilene Cirenia Escamilla-Ortiz	221
ORIGINAL ARTICLE	
Surgical technique and challenges of multi-organ procurement in times of COVID-19 Jorge Martínez Ulloa-Torres, Paulo Irán Gutiérrez-Torres, Idalia Parra-Ávila, Luis Fernando Aguilar-Castillejos, Mariano Hernández-Domínguez, Juan Pablo Baas-Cruz	223
REVIEW	
Modeling materials disease, adjuvant-induced autoimmune syndrome, and other vanity diseases Brandon Rafael Contreras-Díaz, Arturo Córdova-Gómez, Leonardo Rubio-Gómez, Rafael Contreras-Ruiz Velasco	234
CLINICAL CASES	
Chronic appendicitis, a case of an unresolved dilemma José Francisco Camacho-Aguilera, José Manuel Herrera-Morales	243
Breast cancer in men. Case report Tere Ivanova Alipio-Núñez, Luis E Cisneros-Manríquez, Juan Antonio Loyo-Cosme	248
A rare coexistence of cholecystobiliary and cholecystoenteric fistula with pyogenic abscesses. Report of a case Javier Benítez Beltrán, Gustavo Hernández Marcelo, Gloria María Guzmán Arguello	251
Intestinal malrotation and cecal volvulus. Case presentation and literature review Oscar Cervantes-Gutiérrez, Gustavo Cervantes-Millán, Andrew Sorsby-Vargas, Ana de la Cajiga León, Jesús Flores-Armenta	259
Pseudopapillary solid tumor of the pancreas or "Frantz tumor". Presentation of two clinical cases René Alberto Perea-Cosío, Adolfo Norberto-Rodríguez, Luis M Menchaca-Alanís, Víctor Sarmiento-Huizar, Miguel Ángel Mendoza-García, Pedro Chapa, Nicolás Enrique Morales-Sánchez	265
HISTORY, ETHICS AND PHILOSOPHY	
Dr. Ricardo Suárez Gamboa, innovative surgeon and promoter of uterine cancer management in the 19th century Carlos Agustín Rodríguez-Paz, Rolando Neri-Vela	271

Cirujano General

Octubre-Diciembre 2021 Vol. 43, núm. 4

FD	ITA	RIAL
LDI		ΝЛ

Los resultados en un artículo científico Abilene Cirenia Escamilla-Ortiz	221
ARTÍCULO ORIGINAL	
Técnica quirúrgica y retos de procuración multiorgánica en tiempos de COVID-19 Jorge Martínez Ulloa-Torres, Paulo Irán Gutiérrez-Torres, Idalia Parra-Ávila, Luis Fernando Aguilar-Castillejos, Mariano Hernández-Domínguez, Juan Pablo Baas-Cruz	223
ARTÍCULO DE REVISIÓN	
Enfermedad por modelantes, síndrome autoinmune inducido por adyuvantes y otras enfermedades de la vanidad Brandon Rafael Contreras-Díaz, Arturo Córdova-Gómez, Leonardo Rubio-Gómez, Rafael Contreras-Ruiz Velasco	234
CASOS CLÍNICOS	
Apendicitis crónica, un caso de un dilema no resuelto José Francisco Camacho-Aguilera, José Manuel Herrera-Morales	243
Cáncer de mama en hombre. Reporte de caso Tere Ivanova Alipio-Núñez, Luis E Cisneros-Manríquez, Juan Antonio Loyo-Cosme	248
<i>Fístula colecistobiliar y colecistoentérica con abscesos hepáticos piógenos, una rara coexistencia. Informe de un caso Javier Benítez Beltrán, Gustavo Hernández Marcelo, Gloria María Guzmán Arguello</i>	251
Malrotación intestinal y vólvulo de ciego. Presentación de caso y revisión bibliográfica Oscar Cervantes-Gutiérrez, Gustavo Cervantes-Millán, Andrew Sorsby-Vargas, Ana de la Cajiga León, Jesús Flores-Armenta	259
Tumor sólido pseudopapilar de páncreas o "tumor de Frantz". Presentación de dos casos clínicos René Alberto Perea-Cosío, Adolfo Norberto-Rodríguez, Luis M Menchaca-Alanís, Víctor Sarmiento-Huizar, Miguel Ángel Mendoza-García, Pedro Chapa, Nicolás Enrique Morales-Sánchez	265
HISTORIA, ÉTICA Y FILOSOFÍA	
Dr. Ricardo Suárez Gamboa, cirujano innovador y promotor del manejo del cáncer uterino en el siglo XIX Carlos Agustín Rodríguez-Paz, Rolando Neri-Vela	271

doi: 10.35366/109124



The results in a scientific paper

Los resultados en un artículo científico

Abilene Cirenia Escamilla-Ortiz*

One of the essential things when presenting presearch work is how the information is presented; this is reflected in the results section. Some people underestimate this section and need to write down everything or repeat data in the discussion; they should compare their results against what is described in the literature.¹

The results should answer each part of the research, go back to the material and methods section, and make sure that the variables and analysis are explained. It should begin by describing the total number of participants, how many still need to complete the study or why they were eliminated, and the characteristics of the participants. It is suggested to place the most significant results first, but remember to include the non-significant results.²

Write in the past tense, use headings for each section or what is wanted to represent, try to use a few words, and be more visual. When reporting statistical tests for analysis, including the appropriate and adequate values for the study.³

Visual aids allow better communication of the results; these can be graphs, tables, charts, images, or illustrations, and they should not repeat what is already in the text.³ Tables or figures capture the reader's attention better and allow more efficient communication of what is to be communicated, the use of abbreviations should be avoided, and if they are used, the meaning should be indicated.² It should be remembered that the interpretation of the data is part of the discussion.

When data or results are reported, they should be logical; the results are text descriptions of what was important in the data. Please do not refer to unpublished results unless they carry significant weight.⁴

How to organize the results section:⁴

- 1. Chronological order.
- 2. From general to specific.
- 3. From most important to least important.
- 4. Group the results by topic, study group, or experiment.

It is important not to duplicate or repeat what is in tables or figures or in the text itself; only if it is wanted to emphasize something can be done. They should be placed at the beginning of the paragraph to highlight the significant results, which is the substantial part, and the key findings can receive more attention.⁴

Do not forget to write down the units of measurement, and the units of the laboratory results, and punctuate the hours, if it is a.m. or p.m. regarding numbers, they should be written when they are less than 10.⁴

If this section is well narrated, the reader should understand the data and its implications before reading the author's interpretation.

* Editor, Surgeon General. orcid.org/0000-0001-5635-5845



How to cite: Escamilla-Ortiz AC. The results in a scientific paper. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 221-222. https://dx.doi. org/10.35366/109124

REFERENCES

- 1. Sandercock PML. How to write and publish a Scientific Article. Can Soc Forensic Sci J. 2012; 45: 1-5.
- 2. Busse C, August E. How to write and publish a research paper for a peer review journal. J Canc Educ. 2021; 36: 909-913.
- 3. Snyder N, Foltz C, Lendner M, Vaccaro AR. How to write an effective results section. Clin Spine Surg. 2019; 32: 295-296.
- Bahadoran Z, Mirmiran P, Zadeh-Vakili A, Hosseinpanah F, Ghasemi A. The principles of biomedical scientific writing: results. Int J Endocrinol Metab. 2019; 17: e92113.

Correspondence: Abilene Cirenia Escamilla-Ortiz E-mail: escamillaoa@amcg.org.mx

www.medigraphic.org.mx

doi: 10.35366/109125



Surgical technique and challenges of multiorgan procurement in times of COVID-19

Técnica quirúrgica y retos de procuración multiorgánica en tiempos de COVID-19

Jorge Martínez Ulloa-Torres,^{*} Paulo Irán Gutiérrez-Torres,^{*} Idalia Parra-Ávila,^{*} Luis Fernando Aguilar-Castillejos,^{*} Mariano Hernández-Domínguez,[‡] Juan Pablo Baas-Cruz[§]

Keywords:

transplantation and COVID-19, multiorgan donation, procurement surgery, liver, kidney.

Palabras clave:

trasplante y COVID-19, donación multiorgánica, cirugía de procuración, hígado, riñón.

* High Specialty Medical Unit of the "Ignacio García Téllez" National Medical Center. * Unidad Médica de Alta Especialidad del Hospital General "Gaudencio González Garza", Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social. § Yucatan State Transplant Center.

Received: 02/19/2021 Accepted: 10/19/2022



ABSTRACT

Mexico performed 1,136 deceased donor kidney and liver transplants in 2019. Due to the SARS-CoV-2 disease pandemic (COVID-19) as of March 2020, all donation and transplant programs were temporarily suspended, so multi-organ procurement decreased by 94% during the second and third quarters of the year. Transplant programs are considered a priority because of their high impact on major public health problems. As a result of a decrease in hospital admissions and occupancy, the National Transplant Center (CENATRA) published a reactivation plan for these programs in June. This plan considers screening measures for all potential donors, including tests such as reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and chest tomography (CT), which is why we report in this article the time needed and the feasibility of running these screening tests in a clinical case in Yucatan, as well as a review of the surgical technique for explant surgery.

RESUMEN

México realizó 1,136 trasplantes renales y hepáticos de donante fallecido durante el 2019. Como consecuencia de la pandemia por la enfermedad por SARS-CoV-2 (CO-VID-19), a partir de marzo del 2020 se suspendieron temporalmente todos los programas de donación y trasplantes, por lo cual las procuraciones multiorgánicas disminuyeron en 94% durante el segundo y tercer trimestre del año. Los programas de trasplantes son considerados prioritarios por su gran impacto en los principales problemas de salud pública. Como consecuencia de una disminución de ingresos y ocupación hospitalaria, en junio se publica por parte del Centro Nacional de Trasplantes (CENATRA) el plan de reactivación de estos programas. En dicho plan se consideran medidas de escrutinio a todo potencial donante, así como la realización de pruebas como reacción en cadena de la polimerasa con transcriptasa inversa (RT-PCR) y tomografía (TC) de tórax, motivo por el cual reportamos en el presente artículo el tiempo necesario y la viabilidad de correr estas pruebas de screening en un caso clínico de Yucatán, así como una revisión de la técnica quirúrgica para la cirugía del explante.

INTRODUCTION

Current organ transplantation is one of the most significant advances in modern medicine, being the definitive treatment for many patients with terminal organ failure. The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS) has been at the forefront in this field for several years, concentrating the most significant activity on donation and transplantation in Mexico.¹

In 2019 in Mexico, 1,136 deceased donor kidney and liver transplants were performed; currently, more than 17 thousand patients are registered on the waiting list to receive a transplant of one of these two organs.^{2,3}

How to cite: Ulloa-Torres JM, Gutiérrez-Torres PI, Parra-Ávila I, Aguilar-Castillejos LF, Hernández-Domínguez M, Baas-Cruz JP. Surgical technique and challenges of multi-organ procurement in times of COVID-19. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 223-233. https://dx.doi.org/10.35366/109125

Around the critical situation generated by the COVID-19 pandemic, the National Transplant Center (CENATRA) issued in March 2020 the "Recommendations to the National Subsystem of Donation and Transplantation on the infection associated with SARS-CoV-2", suggesting the temporary suspension of all organ and tissue donation and transplantation programs nationwide, except for zero emergencies and priority allocations. This is in line with other international recommendations published by the Spanish National Transplant Organization (ONT), the Latin American Society of Nephrology and Hypertension (SLANH), the Transplant Society of Latin America and the Caribbean (STALYC), the Pan American Association of Infectious Diseases (API), as well as by the National Central Institute of Ablation and Implant Coordination of Argentina (INCUCAI).4,5

As a result, multi-organ procurement in Mexico plummeted 94% during the second and third quarters of 2020 compared to the same period last year, with a total of 15 vs. 280 procurements completed, respectively.^{6,7}

Contrary to some perceptions, transplant programs are considered relevant because of their incredible impact on public health problems, such as end-stage renal failure, making them priority programs. For this reason, associated with a decrease in hospital admissions and occupancy due to COVID-19 cases, CENATRA published a plan to encourage the reactivation of donation and transplantation programs in our country in June of this year. In this plan, the internal transplant committee must carry out a diagnosis of the particular epidemiological situation of the establishment. It will evaluate the availability of human, financial, technological, and material resources, COVID-19-free circuits, hospital beds in intensive care Units, and laboratory and cabinet studies (RT-PCR tests and thorax tomography), among others.⁸ These last two screening studies for SARS-CoV-2 are necessary for both the donor and the potential recipients, which adds complexity to the already laborious logistics.

This article aims to estimate the time necessary to comply with current RT-PCR and chest tomography protocols, their feasibility, and their impact on the donation/ transplantation process; we will also analyze the main surgical aspects of multi-organ procurement surgery.

CASE PRESENTATION (Table 1 and Figure 1)

Surgical aspects

The following is a description of the surgical technique with some images and algorithms to facilitate an understanding of the process.

Preparation and field

- a. It is mandatory that the surgeon in charge reviews all documentation prior to the incision, especially: certification of loss of life for the disposal of organs and tissues with the time of death equal to that of the cabinet study showing absence of cerebral flow; consent for the disposal of organs and tissues of cadavers for transplantation purposes, with signatures and identifications; the results of negative infectious serologies and finally, if applicable, the consent of the Public Prosecutor's Office.
- b. Negative RT-PCR for SARS-CoV-2, ideally 24 hours maximum 72 hours before the surgical event.
- c. In cases where available, a chest CT scan should be performed. It should be clarified that an image not suggestive of COVID-19 does not rule out the active disease process.
- d. Communication between the surgeon and the anesthesiologist is confirmed for administering medications at the
- various crucial stages: hemodynamic support during surgery, relaxants to avoid any spinal reflex or Lazarus reflex in the donor, and anticoagulation prior to clamping.
- e. Perfusion set ready with at least eight liters of preservation solution and 10 liters of frozen sterile solutions.

		Table 1: Schedule of actions carried out.
Day	Time	Event
0	16:00	The Emergency Department reports to the hospital donation coordinator about a 23-year-old male patient with severe cranioencephalic trauma secondary to a car accident 24 hours before his admission; he is found with clinically absent stem reflexes and a cerebral angio-CT scan showing an absence of flow. In a committee session, it was determined that the two kidneys and the liver would be transferred to Mexico City due to the absence of conditions to perform the transplants in the generating hospital
0	17:00	With the support of the Epidemiology Service and the central laboratory of the generating hospital, a COVID-19 oral-nasopharyngeal RT-PCR test was performed
0	19:00	A chest CT scan showed a left pneumothorax, a pleural bypass tube, and bilateral pulmonary contusion areas without data suggestive of SARS-CoV-2 infection
1	05:00	The result of the COVID-19 test by RT-PCR was negative
1	10:00	Proceedings before the Public Prosecutor's Office are initiated
1	17:00	<i>TIME OUT</i> : multi-organ procurement surgery by the generating hospital's transplant surgical team to avoid inter-state equipment transfer
1	19:00	Clamping
1	20:00	Transfer of the organs from Merida to Mexico City by plane
2	03:00	Hepatic depinning
2	06:00	Successful completion of liver transplantation
4	10:00	Successful transplantation of both kidneys during the morning of day four (with pulsatile hypothermic perfusion support from the arrival of kidneys on day one; > 72 h of ischemia)

RT-PCR = reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction. CT = computerized tomography.



Figure 1:

Hours elapsed between notification and certification of brain death and the various processes culminating in procurement. PCR (one hour after onset), chest CT scan (four hours after onset), PCR result (13 hours after onset), proceedings before the Public Prosecutor's Office (18 hours after onset), start of TIME OUT procurement surgery (20 hours after onset) and aortic clamping (22 hours after onset). PCR = polymerase chain reaction. CT = computed tomography. PP = public prosecutor. f. Surgical toilet 5 cm above the xiphoid, covering the abdomen to the symphysis pubis, including the middle third of both thighs.

Surgical procedure

- a. Abdominal approach and clinical evaluation. A cross incision is made, starting with a medial xiphoid incision up to the symphysis pubis and completed with a transverse incision up to the limits of Toldt's fascia. Thoracic enlargement with stereotomy is optional (Figure 2A). Subsequently, the round and suspensory ligaments are ligated, sectioned, and incised up to a few millimeters proximal to the suprahepatic veins. Examination of the intra-abdominal organs is performed to exclude possible malignant disease (Figure 2B). Clinical evaluation for hepatic steatosis is assessed at this stage, especially if a pathologist is unavailable. The surgeon assesses the coloration, pressing parenchyma, borders, and firmness of the liver (Figure 2C).9
- **b.** Dissection of great vessels and renal exposure. The parietal peritoneum is incised with electrocautery at the level of the bifurcation of the abdominal aorta. It extends laterally to the cecum to continue along Toldt's fascia, ascending to the hepatic angle (*Figure 3A*).

Dissection continues (Cattell-Braasch and Kocher maneuver) along the inframesocolic retroperitoneal avascular plane to mobilize and retract the ascending colon medially, mobilization of the duodenum and pancreatic head to expose the Gerota and right renal vein, inferior vena cava and abdominal aorta. The right ureter is identified and dissected (*Figure 3B*).

At this stage, the superior mesenteric artery is dissected at its origin from the aorta, which emerges above the crossing of the left renal vein to the abdominal aorta, in search of an accessory artery or replacement of the right hepatic artery (*Figure 3C*).

The contralateral retroperitoneal dissection is performed using the Mattox maneuver, incising the left Toldt's fascia up to the splenic angle, dissection of the retroperitoneal avascular plane exposing the Gerota and the left ureter.

c. Referral for cannulation. In preparation for cannulation and Perfusion, the distal segment of the aorta is dissected in search of the inferior mesenteric artery, which is ligated and cut. Similarly, the inferior vena cava is dissected and referred to with umbilical tape at the level of the iliac veins inflow (*Figure 4A*).

Lateral to the angle of Treitz, the inferior mesenteric vein is identified, dissected,



Figure 2: A) Cross incision. B) Incision of the round and suspensory ligament. C) Pressure of the hepatic parenchyma.



Figure 3: A) Abdominal aortic bifurcation dissection. B) Cattell-Braasch and Kocher maneuver. C) Accessory or right-side replacement.



Figure 4: A) Aorta and infrarenal vena cava referenced. *B)* Identification of the inferior mesenteric vein.

and referred with silk for subsequent portal perfusion (*Figure 4B*).

It is preferred not to cannulate at this time to avoid accidentally decannulating the great vessels during the rest of the dissection.

d. Hepatic Dissection. A compress is placed on the inferior border of the left lobe, and electrocautery is used on the left triangular and coronary ligaments to free the left lobe (*Figure 5A*).

Dissection of the lesser moment or gastrohepatic ligament continues, taking care to preserve any accessory hepatic artery or left replacement arising from the stomal coronary artery. It should be preserved if present, procuring the celiac trunk (*Figure 5B and C*).

Subsequently, the structures of the hepatic hilum are dissected. The Dissection of the common bile duct begins at the right lateral border, taking care not to devascularize the pericoledochal vessels, which are located at 3 and 9 o'clock in the circumference of the biliary tract. It is distally ligated with silk at the level of the duodenum and sectioned (*Figure 5D*).

The vesicular fundus is incised and irrigated with an aseptic syringe until a clear solution emerges through the sectioned biliary tract. It is essential to remember that the right hepatic accessory or replacements pass in the inferior border of the common bile duct, which must be preserved from its inflow at the level of the superior mesenteric artery previously dissected. It is easy to identify them by palpation through Winslow's hiatus at the beginning of the dissection (*Figure 5E*).

Subsequently, dissect the neuro-lymphatic tissue at the left border of the hilum to dissect the hepatic artery proper only a few millimeters from the gastroduodenal artery. Continue with proximal dissection of the

hepatic artery proper to the celiac trunk. This latter dissection can be performed more easily once clamped and cold (*Figures 5F and G*).

We proceed to dissect the portal vein, which is located below both the biliary tract and the hepatic artery, freeing the neurolymphatic tissue until its emergence at the level of the pancreas so that after perfusion, it is designed intrapancreatic, cutting a few millimeters below the affluence of the superior mesenteric vein with the splenic vein (*Figure 5H*).

Liver dissection is complete.

e. Hepatic cannulation and precooling. Before the anesthesiologist administers 35,000 IU of IV heparin, blood samples are taken from the vena cava and lymph nodes for histocompatibility testing. The aorta is ligated above the bifurcation of the iliac arteries and proximally cannulated for retrograde Perfusion (Figure 6A).

Subsequently, the inferior mesenteric vein and cannula are tied distally for portal perfusion with venoclisis equipment; in this phase, hepatic precooling begins with slow drip infusion of the preservation solution (*Figure 6B*).

f. Dissection of the supraceliac aorta and diaphragmatic incision. The last Dissection before cold Perfusion consists of dissecting the supraceliac aorta below the diaphragm. The right diaphragmatic pillar is incised to locate the supraceliac aorta and refer with umbilical tape. The right diaphragm is incised to open the thoracic cavity and extends medially to the pericardium exposing the heart (*Figure 7*).

- **g. Perfusion.** It is essential to note the time of clamping. The vascular *clamp* is ligated or placed in the supraceliac aorta, the aortic and portal preservation solution infusion systems are entirely opened, the right atrium is sectioned, and two aspirators are placed in the thoracic cavity for exsanguination and installation of sterile ice completely covering both kidneys and liver. An average of four liters of preservation solution is infused per aorta and two liters per portal system. *In situ* cold Perfusion of the organs lasts approximately 20 minutes *(Figure 8)*.
- **h. Explant.** For hepatic procurement, start by sectioning the inferior vena cava above the inflow of both renal veins and the aorta at the level of the superior mesenteric artery, taking care not to injure the emergence of the renal arteries and the great vessels are detached from the dorsal plane (*Figure 9A*).

The dissection of the hepatic hilum continues, sectioning the portal vein at



Figure 5: A) Incision of the left triangular and coronary ligament. B) Incision of the lesser omentum. C) Accessory or left replacement. D) Dissection of the biliary tract. E) Lavage of the biliary tract. F) Direction of the hepatic artery. G) Celiac trunk dissection. H) Portal dissection. GD = gastroduodenal.



Figure 6: A) Aortic cannulation. B) Inferior mesenteric vein cannulation.



Figure 7: Supraceliac aorta referenced.

the described level. The gastroduodenal artery is sectioned, and the hepatic artery itself is dissected up to the celiac trunk, cutting the splenic and left gastric artery (in case it does not have any accessory artery or left replacement if it does, it must be preserved) to section the aorta at the level of the clamp. The aorta or an aortic patch around the ostium of the celiac trunk, including the superior mesenteric artery (in case of any accessory artery or right replacement), should be removed (*Figure 9B*).

The index finger is then introduced through the retrohepatic vena cava at the pericardial level. The diaphragm that includes it is sectioned, cutting the right diaphragm together with the ipsilateral triangular and coronary ligaments. The liver is now freely removed from the abdomen and placed in the ice-filled container for review at the bench surgery.

The kidneys are explanted *en bloc* to minimize the risk of vascular injury. The ureters are cut at the level of the iliac junction, the inferior vena cava at the level of the iliac inflow, and the aorta at the level of the cannulation. The bowel is retracted anteriorly and superiorly. The left transmesocolic window is opened to dislocate the left kidney to the inframesocolic space (*Figure 9C*).

Ureters, renal poles, and great vessels are lifted, and a section of the paravertebral muscles is initiated. Both kidneys are obtained and placed on the back table in an ice container.

Finally, the common, hypogastric, and external iliac arteries and veins are procured for packing with the liver (*Figure 9D*).

Packaging

Another 1.5 liters of preservation solution is infused per portal vein, 500 cm³ per hepatic



Figure 8: Supraceliac impingement.



Figure 9: A) Cut of suprarenal cava vein. B) Cut off the aortic patch. C) Transmesenteric window. D) Renal block explant.



Figure 10: Renal and hepatic perfusion and packing.



Figure 11: Algorithm for surgical aspects.

artery, and packing is performed with the organ submerged in this solution with three sterile protective bags. The kidneys are separated, sectioning the left renal vein in its affluence with the cava to preserve the latter with the left renal vein for its use if elongation is required. The anterior side of the aorta is cleaned, and an incision is made along its midline, allowing the equivalent patch on each side of the renal artery and its polar. Infuse with 500 cm³ of preservation solution per renal artery and perform packing similarly to the liver (*Figures 10 and 11*).

DISCUSSION

Let us begin the discussion by contextualizing a pandemic with epidemiological figures with a disputed underreporting in our country. Mexico continues to be on the list of countries with high transmissibility for SARS-CoV-2.¹⁰

In addition, most of first- and second-level hospitals (donor centers) and third-level and high-specialty hospitals (transplant centers) had to convert into COVID units, severely affecting transplant activity throughout the country.

This effect was not only observed in Mexico. Most transplant centers worldwide have reduced the number of procedures due to the pandemic. At the end of March 2020, a survey of 88 US transplant institutions reported that 71% had suspended living donor kidney transplantation altogether, and 84% had implemented restrictions on deceased donor kidney transplantation.¹¹ Another report reported productivity reductions of 51% and 90% in solid organ transplantation procedures in the US and France.¹²

The impact on the decrease in multi-organ donations in Spain was most affected during the March-May period, coinciding with the worst months of the pandemic; however, according to reports from the ONT, these have recovered to levels approaching those recorded in 2019.¹³ This recovery is staggered, contrary to what has been observed in Mexico, where so far activity is minimal.

All this may correspond to emerging countries are very different from the first world. Marcelo Cantarovich and collaborators mention several points to consider before performing any deceased donor organ transplantation in developing countries: limitations in personal protective equipment, high prevalence of asymptomatic infections, availability of RT-PCR tests, isolation rooms, and intensive care unit beds, duplication of functions in health care workers, the changing dynamics of this pandemic and finally the overload on the existing health care system. Each unit must study case-by-case, weighing the feasibility of performing procurement and transplantation versus the resources available to manage the pandemic.14

Although the potential for SARS-CoV-2 transmission through transplantation is unknown, there are already multiple international reports on the transplanted population. Domínguez-Gil et al. published 363 cases of COVID-19 in organ transplant patients four months after the pandemic in Spain, where most were community-acquired with a median time of 56 months after transplantation. Only 62 (14%) cases of nosocomial infections were reported, in no case with suspected donor-derived infection.¹⁵

Case series published in the US with more than 400 solid organ transplant recipients have provided information on the clinical presentation of COVID-19 in this population, yielding a mortality of 6-30%.¹⁶ Pereira and his group reported a series of 90 solid organ transplant recipients with COVID-19 with the following symptoms: fever (70%), cough (59%), and dyspnea (43%); 76% required hospitalization and 35% mechanical ventilation. Overall mortality was 18%.¹⁷ In Mexico, CENATRA reports overall mortality of 25% of confirmed and suspected cases as of December.¹⁸

In order to continue the attention to these priority programs, trying to reduce the health risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection, both in Mexico and internationally, multiple recommendations were issued that coincide with each other for the evaluation and selection of organ donors and recipients in the current context.¹⁹

One of these recommendations is the performance of RT-PCR and thorax tomography to all potential donors, which is why we analyze in this article the feasibility and the time it added to the procurement process in our environment, being this of 12 extra hours, which did not put the donation event at risk. Clarifying that this surgery was performed in a High Specialty Unit with the capacity to run the polymerase chain reaction in its laboratory, a reality uncommon in most procuring hospitals in the country. The reactivation of our donation program was based on five fundamental guidelines:

- 1. Assess resources for screening potential donors.
- 2. Availability of resources in intensive care and shock areas.
- Risk/benefit assessment of subjecting an immunocompromised patient to the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection vs. the risk of mortality by remaining on the waiting list.²⁰
- 4. Ability to transfer organs and tissues out of state.
- 5. Procurement by local surgical teams.

In our country, multi-organ procurement will always be urgent, so it is imperative to resume near-normal activities as soon as possible.^{7,8} A strict evaluation of the potential donor before organ procurement will continue to be the cornerstone of the transplant process and an excellent surgical technique, even in the COVID-19 contingency.

Finally, Communication between donation and transplantation teams in the country is

critical to minimize ischemia time and achieve a good result for organ transplantation. It should be taken into account that any anatomical variation may occur during transplantation; therefore, extreme care should be taken to avoid damage to vessels and organs that may endanger the transplantation.

CONCLUSION

The development of organ donation and transplantation has been extraordinarily complex but feasible, as shown in the present case. The most significant impact, we believe, is not in the procurement but in the implantation due to the saturation situation and the lack of COVID-19-free areas in the hospitals, which guarantees the safety of the transplanted patient.

Although it is too early to assess the impact on mortality rates associated with this decline in donation and transplantation activity, it is presumable that deaths on waiting lists that would have been avoidable under normal circumstances will increase.

REFERENCES

- Hernández DM, Holm CA, Jiménez DA, Camarena AA. Historical development of the Transplant Service at the General Hospital of the National Medical Center "La Raza", IMSS. Cir Gen. 2002; 24: 107-111.
- 2. CENATRA. Annual report 2019 of procurement and transplantation in Mexico. Mexico: Secretaría de Salud; 2020. Available at: https://www.gob.mx/ cms/uploads/attachment/file/528301/Presentacion_ anual_2019.pdf
- CENATRA. Estado actual de receptores, donación y trasplantes en México. Available at: http://cenatra. salud.gob.mx/transparencia/trasplante_estadisticas. html
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382: 727-733.
- CENATRA. Recommendations to the national subsystem of donation and transplantation on infection associated with SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19). 2020. Available at: www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/ file/544806/010420_Recomendaciones_COVID-19_M_xico_1_.pdf
- CENATRA. Current status of recipients, donation, and transplants in Mexico. 2nd quarter. 2020. Available at: https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/ file/562397/2doTrimestre2020.pdf

- CENATRA. Current status of recipients, donation, and transplants in Mexico. 3rd quarter. 2020. Available at: https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/ file/589093/3erTrimestre2020.pdf
- CENATRA. Plan for reactivation of donation and transplantation programs. Updated August 11, 2020. Available at: https://www.gob.mx/cms/ uploads/attachment/file/586402/11-08-20_Plan_ de_reactivacion_de_los_programas_donaci_n_y_ trasplantes_pdf
- Yersiz H, Lee C, Kaldas FM, Hong JC, Rana A, Schnickel GT, et al. Assessment of hepatic steatosis by transplant surgeon and expert pathologist: a prospective, doubleblind evaluation of 201 donor livers. Liver Transpl. 2013; 19: 437-449.
- Escudero X, Guarner J, Galindo-Fraga A, Escudero-Salamanca M, Alcocer-Gamba MA, Del-Río C. The SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19): current situation and implications for Mexico. Cardiovasc Metab Sci. 2020; 31: 170-177.
- Boyarsky BJ, Po-Yu Chiang T, Werbel WA, Durand CM, Avery RK, Getsin SN, et al. Early impact of COVID-19 on transplant center practices and policies in the United States. Am J Transplant. 2020; 20: 1809-1818.
- Loupy A, Aubert O, Reese PP, Bastien O, Bayer F, Jacquelinet C. Organ procurement and transplantation during the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet. 2020; 395: e95-e96.
- 13. National Transplant Organization. Available at: http:// www.ont.es/Paginas/Home.aspx
- Kute V, Ramesh V, Shroff S, Prasad N, Guleria S, Prakash J, et al. Benefit to few versus risk to many: an ethical dilemma during coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic for deceased-donor organ transplantation in a resourcelimited developing country. Exp Clin Transplant. 2021; 19: 1-7.
- Domínguez-Gil B, Coll E, Ferrer-Fabrega J, Briceño J, Ríos A. Dramatic impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on donation and transplantation activities in Spain. Cir Esp (Engl Ed). 2020; 98: 412-414.
- Kates O. COVID-19: clinical presentation, complications, and outcomes in transplant recipients. Oral presentation at Virtual American Transplant Congress (ATC). 2020.
- Pereira MR, Mohan S, Cohen DJ, Husain SA, Dube GK, Ratner LE, et al. COVID-19 in solid organ transplant recipients: Initial report from the US epicenter. Am J Transplant. 2020; 20: 1800-1808.
- 18. http://www.cenatra.gob.mx/rnt/ temp/202012142122560.Tabla_casos_ COVID-19_20-12-14.pdf
- 19. http://www.ont.es/infesp/RecomendacionesPara Professionals/Forms/AllItems.aspx
- Boyarsky BJ, Werbel WA, Durand CM, Avery RK, Jackson KR, Kernodle AB, et al. Early national and center-level changes to kidney transplantation in the United States during the COVID-19 epidemic. Am J Transplant. 2020; 20: 3131-3139.

Ethical considerations and responsibility: data privacy. Following the protocols established in our

work center, it is declared that the protocols on patient data privacy have been followed, preserving their anonymity.

Funding: no financial support was received for the preparation of this work.

Disclosure: none of the authors have a conflict of interest in the conduct of this study.

Correspondence: Jorge Martínez Ulloa-Torres E-mail: jorge.martinezu@imss.gob.mx

www.medigraphic.org.mx

doi: 10.35366/109126



Modeling materials disease, adjuvant-induced autoimmune syndrome, and other vanity diseases

Enfermedad por modelantes, síndrome autoinmune inducido por adyuvantes y otras enfermedades de la vanidad

Brandon Rafael Contreras-Díaz,* Arturo Córdova-Gómez,* Leonardo Rubio-Gómez,[‡] Rafael Contreras-Ruiz Velasco[§]

Keywords:

adjuvants, biopolymers, granuloma, autoimmune disease, silicones, dermal filler.

Palabras clave:

adyuvantes, biopolímeros, granuloma, enfermedad autoinmune, siliconas, relleno dérmico.

* Surgeon, Universidad La Salle. Mexico.
‡ Resident of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Centro Médico Nacional 20 de Noviembre. Mexico.
§ General Surgeon, ABC Medical Center. Mexico.

Received: 05/03/2021 Accepted: 11/05/2022



For a long time, simple, safe, and painless methods have been sought to improve body contour, using infinite materials ranging from solids to liquids. Thus, an epidemic of unknown magnitude has arisen, affecting both sexes between the third and fourth decade of life who, in their eagerness to look better, ask to be injected with "miraculous" substances such as silicone, vaseline,

ABSTRACT

with "miraculous" substances such as silicone, vaseline, mineral or vegetable oil, etcetera. Not all present signs and symptoms that force them to consult; the sequelae can occur up to 30 years after the application. The risks of using these substances range from the simple migration of the application site, obtaining a different result to the desired one, to death, including reactions of rejection of the organism to the injected substance. Managing these patients is challenging for the physician since it needs to be standardized. Due to the diversity of substances used as fillers, predicting their behavior is difficult, so there is only partially satisfactory treatment. We conclude that, except for autologous fat, no innocuous substances should be applied to the body, and only certified plastic surgeons should be consulted.

RESUMEN

Durante mucho tiempo se han buscado métodos sencillos, seguros y poco dolorosos para mejorar el contorno corporal, al emplear infinidad de materiales que van desde los sólidos hasta los líquidos. Es así que ha surgido una epidemia de magnitud desconocida, que afecta ambos sexos entre la tercera y cuarta década de la vida que, en el afán de verse mejor, solicitan ser inyectados con sustancias "milagrosas" como: silicona, vaselina, aceite mineral o vegetal, etcétera. No todos presentan signos y síntomas que les obliguen a consultar, las secuelas se pueden presentar hasta 30 años después de la aplicación. Los riesgos del uso de estas sustancias van desde la simple migración del lugar de aplicación, con lo cual se obtiene un resultado diferente al deseado, hasta la muerte, debido a las reacciones de rechazo del organismo a la sustancia invectada. El manejo de estos pacientes es desafiante para el médico, ya que no está estandarizado y, debido a la diversidad de sustancias usadas como relleno, es muy difícil predecir su comportamiento, por lo que no hay un tratamiento del todo satisfactorio. Concluimos que, salvo la grasa autóloga, no existen sustancias inocuas para ser aplicadas en el cuerpo y debería recurrirse solamente a cirujanos plásticos certificados.

INTRODUCTION

The desire to increase the volume of specific body areas for aesthetic purposes and to prevent and reduce skin aging has existed for a long time. Today, more than ever, people are seeking to achieve it. For a long time, surgeons have searched for simple, safe, and painless methods to improve body contouring, using an infinite number of materials ranging from solids (prostheses that require a formal surgical procedure) to liquids, such as kerosene, silicone, methyl methacrylate, polyacrylamide gel, among others.¹

How to cite: Contreras-Díaz BR, Córdova-Gómez A, Rubio-Gómez L, Contreras-Ruiz VR. Modeling materials disease, adjuvant-induced autoimmune syndrome, and other vanity diseases. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 234-242. https://dx.doi. org/10.35366/109126

Due to ignorance, lack of resources, or fear of a surgical procedure, people look for procedures that are not wholly accepted by orthodox medicine but that meet their expectations of having a low cost, not involving a scalpel, and even being able to be performed in the comfort of their home or an office, in the best of cases. To top it off, the interested party usually knows someone who has had it done some time ago and has yet to present any complications. This person usually encourages him/her to do it.²

According to the latest survey by the International Society for Aesthetic Plastic Surgery, in 2018, injectable treatments accounted for 76% of non-surgical procedures in the top 10 countries with the highest number of aesthetic procedures globally.³

Thus, an epidemic of unknown magnitude has arisen,⁴ that affects patients who, in their eagerness to look better, request to be injected with "miraculous" substances, known as fillers, modeling,⁵ biopolymers, "tissue implants", "expandable cell implants", or modeling, among others;⁶ at a bargain cost, compared to anything that has to do with a scalpel, in addition to being able to perform it in different sessions, as your pocket allows and based on the results you get.

The substances used are classified into resorbable ones (hyaluronic acid, poly L-lactic acid, tricalcium phosphate, and alginate-coated polysaccharide) and non-absorbable (silicone polyacrylamide, polymethylmethacrylate) and other substances, such as vegetable oils, motor oil, beeswax, and animal fat.³ The patient is often unaware of the material and quantity infiltrated and the complications of applying these substances.^{4,5,7-10}

HISTORY

The use of fillers dates back to 1899 when Gersuy injected kerosene into the scrotum of a young man who had undergone bilateral orchiectomy for tuberculosis. The same author injected petrolatum into the nose to correct a saddle deformity. The method fell into disuse when tumors produced by this substance, paraphinomas began to appear, and in 1902, Eckstein reported its disadvantages and complications.^{7,11} injected liquid silicone for cosmetic purposes became popular after World War II (1937-1945). From 1940 to 1950, in Europe and the United States, similar complications were observed with silicone injections, abandoned in the 1960s and 1970s by indications of the health services, such as the FDA in the United States. By 1962 another element was added to the arsenal for body modeling or correcting congenital disabilities or postmastectomy: breast prostheses filled with liquid silicone that, when broken by its thin cover, the silicone migration gave systemic manifestations of autoimmune type. As early as 1964, Miyoshi, in Japan, described the adverse effects produced by the use of the first breast prostheses and the infiltration of adjuvant substances, proposing the term human disease by adjuvant.¹¹⁻¹⁵

In Mexico, one of the first reports about the problems caused by the injection of modeling agents was described by Ortiz Monasterio and Trigos in 1972, showing the experience with 186 patients with mammary injections of different foreign materials.^{9,15}

Polyacrylamide has been used for the past 20 years; this material was introduced in the late 1980s in cosmetic surgery under various trade names. Official bodies, such as the Food and Drug Administration of China, banned its production, sale, and use due to all the reports of adverse effects received from 2002 to 2005.

Recently, with the FDA approval of AdatoSil 5000 and Silikon 1000 for ophthalmic use in the United States, silicone is being used legally, but off-label, as a skin filler.¹⁶

Coiffman, in 2008, reported 342 patients studied and treated in 10 years and coined the term iatrogenic allogenesis to qualify this disease.

In Mexico, since 2000, the plastic Surgery and Rheumatology Departments of the General Hospital of Mexico have been pioneers in the integral and multidisciplinary study of modeling disease. The results of the different study protocols that have been carried out since 2000 have broadened the knowledge of the natural history of this disease, its medical and surgical treatment, and the prognosis of a disease that is still unknown in many aspects.⁸

In 2011 Shoenfeld and Agmon-Levin introduced the term ASIA (*Autoimmune* [*Auto-inflammatory*] Syndrome Induced by Adjuvants).^{13,14,17-19}

EPIDEMIOLOGY

It affects both sexes between the third and fourth decades of life. From 68.75 to 97% are women.^{2,4,7,15,20}

In most patients, the areas infiltrated are buttocks (56-74.4%), breasts (16-47%), legs (24%), hips (17%), thighs (17-22%), face (6-11%), labia majora and penis, among other sites (2%);^{2,8,13,21} 14-40% of patients infiltrate more than one area, and 40% do not know the amount infiltrated, which varies from 10 ml to 10 liters.^{2,13,15}

In a study done at the General Hospital of Mexico, the infiltrated substances found were: mineral oil (41.4%), guaiacol (11.4%), liquid silicone (8.5%), vegetable oil (5.7%), automobile oil (1.4%), bovine fat (1.4%), vitamins (1.4%), and mixed substances (12.8%).¹⁵

The true incidence and prevalence are unknown, but it is quickly shaping into a public health problem, which is why this article is.²¹

Risks of the application of fillers, modeling agents, and biopolymers

The risks of the use of these substances range from simple migration of the application site,^{4,16} obtaining a different result to the desired one, to death if they are accidentally injected into a blood vessel,^{4,16,20} through the body's rejection reactions to the injected substance,^{16,20} and even leading to infection, tissue necrosis, sterile abscesses, and autoimmune responses.^{10,22}

Not all patients present signs and symptoms that require consultation, but sequelae can occur 10, 20, and even 30 years after application.^{5,7,23}

In order to help patients make a better choice, they should be told that the effects of these substances, if they appear beneficial, should not be considered permanent. If unfavorable, they should be considered permanent. The silicone-induced autoimmune rheumatic disease has been debated for several decades. In 2012 Vera-Lastra et al. reported a patient with Still's disease after he got silicone implants and a cohort of patients with the severe local and systemic disease after illegal use of oils and adjuvants for cosmetic purposes, all of whom had an autoimmune disease.¹³

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

An immunoregulation disorder and alterations at the connective tissue level generate the disease caused by modeling agents. It is also considered that injecting these substances can precipitate autoimmune phenomena in susceptible individuals.²⁴

The following are considered determinants in the occurrence of a reaction: tissue idiosyncrasy or hypersensitivity, nature of the substance and impurities, total amount and anatomical site, local trauma and distant infections, and nutritional or vitamin deficiencies.^{4,11,20}

The mechanisms associated with the immune response are related to the immunological transformation of self-antigens, secondary to a chemical, physical or biological alteration, or with foreign antigens that induce an immune response that produces a cross-reaction with the self-antigens creating an inflammatory or immune response of rejection, with cutaneous necrosis, migration of the material, thinning of the tissues and fibrosis with hardening and encapsulation of the material.^{8,12}

The result of the injection of these substances is the replacement of normal tissue by cystic spaces of variable size that appear empty when stained with hematoxylin and eosin; with special stains such as Sudan, Nile blue or osmic acid, the encysted oils can be visualized, and the macrophages present their vacuolated cytoplasm, indicating that they have phagocytosed the foreign substance. This chronic inflammation results in the formation of granulomas. At the dermis level, there is thickening with an accumulation of collagen fibers oriented parallel to the superficial epithelium, with increased spindle fibroblasts; fibrosis subsequently involves the subcutaneous adipose tissue, resulting in a thickened dermis.^{4,24}

CLINICAL PICTURE

The clinical presentation is variable in symptomatology, severity, and presentation time. Signs and symptoms can be local, systemic, acute, chronic, controllable, or lethal. Systemic signs and symptoms can be immunologic and non-immunologic.^{5,7,11,22}

Inert substances, such as liquid silicone, always induce clinical manifestations in the long term (two to 25 years) and are of lesser severity if infiltrated in scarce to moderate quantities. However, even in small quantities, the more impure oily substances (edible, automobile, mineral oils, etcetera) always cause very early and much more severe clinical manifestations, although more localized.^{2,8,15}

The most common general symptoms are pain, fever (45%), arthralgias (36%), myalgias (8.5%), polyarthritis (8%), Raynaud's phenomenon (2.8%), somnolence, malaise, and depression.^{2,7,15,16,20,23} According to Coiffman, these last from one to two weeks with periods of exacerbation every two to three months.⁷ Antihistamines and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs shorten the duration of symptoms.⁷

The most common local clinical manifestations are signs of inflammation such as edema, erythema (68.5%), hyperemia (68%), pain (62.8%), irregularities, nodules (61.4%), thickening of the skin and subcutaneous tissue (55.7%), hyperpigmentation (54.2%), venous neoformations (34.2%), other inflammatory changes (54.2%), migration of the infiltrated substance causing regional lymphadenopathy, even at great distances and counter gravity,8 in early stages (27.4%) and in late stages (80%);^{2,6,15} keloid scars, hypopigmentation, ulcerations, hardening, necrosis, sclerosis, fibrosis; infection and fistulas draining whitish or oily material that take months to years to heal, in addition to contracture and deformity of the area.^{4-9,11-13,16,21,23,24}

In 73% of cases, all these reactions preceded distant or systemic manifestations.¹⁴ They can occur from months to 30 years after the

injection, the average being six years,^{2,4,8,9} in 73% of cases, they worsen during the menstrual cycle,¹⁶ and in 3% of men after the application of hormones.¹⁵

Systemic complications include acute pulmonary edema, embolism, and death from the accidental intravascular injection.²⁰ Systemic granulomatous reactions include acute pneumonitis, granulomatous hepatitis,^{5,8,11,24} and renal failure following injection of large quantities.^{4,11}

In breast infiltration, migration is by gravity to the abdomen and the lymphatic route to the axillary nodes. In gluteal infiltration, migration is by gravity towards the thighs and legs and, depending on the depth of the infiltration, the substance can be deposited on the fascia and then affect only the skin or under the fascia and additionally affect the muscle; there is also lymphatic migration, causing inguinal adenomegaly and progressive accumulation of the substance at the dorsolumbar level.¹⁵

Autoimmune diseases related to these substances have been described, appearing on average after three years, such as progressive systemic sclerosis, systemic lupus erythematosus with cutaneous, hematologic, articular, and renal involvement; rheumatoid arthritis with nonspecific manifestations; mixed connective tissue disease, autoimmune hepatitis, primary biliary cirrhosis, Sjögren's syndrome, thyroiditis, serositis, vasculitis, scleroderma, and morphea,⁵ coining the term human adjuvant disease to describe these cases,^{5,11,18,19,24} and more recently ASIA.^{18,19,22}

Disease progression is variable, with periods of relapse and remission. Clinical improvement is observed after surgery and steroid administration.¹³

DIAGNOSIS

The clinical diagnosis is based on the symptoms plus the history of the application of a modeling substance and biopsy.⁸ The complete study of the patient should include chest tele radiography to rule out pulmonary involvement.^{11,14} The extent of the infiltration is determined by nuclear magnetic resonance.^{8,13-15,24}

The most common laboratory abnormalities are anemia, polyclonal hypergammaglobulinemia, elevated erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), positive antinuclear antibodies (ANA) with titers ranging from 1:80 to 1:1,024, rheumatoid factor with titers between 1:80 to 1:280.¹⁸ Other studies that may be requested include C-reactive protein (CRP), fibrinogen, calcium, lactate dehydrogenase (LHD), angiotensin-converting enzyme, serum protein electrophoresis, antinuclear antibodies, C4, CH50, CD4+/CD8+ ratio.¹⁴ Pathology findings are similar between cases, regardless of the infiltrating substance:^{7,24} "fibrosis and chronic foreign body type inflammation", "granulomas", "numerous clear vacuoles, of different size surrounded by lymph histiocytic infiltrate", "foamy looking histiocytes containing material that refracts with polarized light and causes a vacuolated appearance", "dystrophic calcification". These chronic inflammatory changes result in the formation of foreign body granulomas.^{4,9-11,13,16,24} The granulomas show large numbers of macrophages, giant cells, and, to a lesser extent, B and T lymphocytes.¹⁴ "By pathological anatomy, it is impossible to identify the injected substance".7 Structural damage of the dermis is characterized by thickening with

the accumulation of collagen fibers and an increase in the number of fibroblasts and fibrosis of the soft tissues beyond the original area of infiltration.²⁴

Shoenfeld's recent description of ASIA includes criteria for its diagnosis shown in *Table 1*.^{13,17,19}

Mammary gland modeling disease presents a broad clinical spectrum of affection that, until recently, had not been categorized to facilitate its study and treatment. Priego et al. have proposed a classification of mammary modeler disease, as well as its treatment, according to stage.²⁴

Torres and collaborators created an instrument to stage the damage produced by infiltration by modeling substances; they take into account the amount of infiltrated substance, number of infiltrated areas, infiltrated substance, symptomatology, signs, and results of laboratory studies and nuclear magnetic resonance, with which they propose a classification of four stages, shown in *Table 2.*²¹

TREATMENT

Managing these patients is challenging for the physician,⁴ since it needs to be standardized^{7,8} and, due to the diversity of substances used as fillers, it is complicated to predict their

Table 1: Diagnostic c	riteria for ASIA.
Major criteria	Minor criteria
 Exposure to an external stimulus (injection, vaccines, silicone, adjuvant) prior to clinical manifestations The appearance of typical clinical manifestations: Myalgia, myositis, or muscle weakness Arthralgia and arthritis Chronic fatigue, non-restorative sleep, and sleep disorders Neurological manifestations (demyelination) Cognitive impairment, loss of memory Fever, xerostomia Removal of the initiating agent produces enhancement against the suspected adjuvant 	Occurrence of autoantibodies or antibodies against the suspected adjuvant HLA suspected Autoimmune disease
ASIA = Autoimmune/inflammatory Syndrome Induced by Adjuvants HLA	= human leukocyte antigen system

239

		Table 2: Stages of infiltration damage by modeling substances.
Stage	Forecast	Features
1	Good	Excellent response to rheumatological-pharmacological treatment (combining different substances such as methotrexate, prednisone, colchicine, and folic acid). They respond in less than four months. Most of them do not require surgical treatment. Recurrences can be treated in the same way. An excellent long-term response is expected
2	Reserved	They usually have an excellent response to pharmacological treatment after about six months. After that time, the infiltrated tissues will show favorable changes, making them candidates for scheduled surgical treatment to remove most affected tissues. Reconstructive options for these patients are usually successful
3	Limited	Their response to treatment is limited; they temporarily improve their conditions but have increasingly frequent symptomatic periods, which limits the possibility of receiving repeated pharmacological treatment. As soon as their general conditions improve, they should undergo surgical treatments to remove most of the infiltrated tissues in one or several surgeries and try to improve their quality of life by eliminating most of the infiltrated substances from their body. Reconstructive options in these patients are more limited because they present a higher degree of involvement and have a high incidence of complications related to poor healing and increased tissue friability
4	Poor	Poor short-term prognosis, very severe, and may die of multiple organ failure. In these patients, there is no good response to the usual pharmacological treatment, as it can be aggressive and aggravate the patient's conditions, so they are not candidates for surgical treatment; emergency hospitalization is recommended

behavior.⁷ Hence, there is no completely satisfactory treatment. In addition, it is a poorly described pathology,⁸ and up to this moment, it is considered incurable since it is impossible to eliminate the substances infiltrated in the tissues.^{6,15} World reports, in general, support conservative management.²⁴

Coiffman recommends that only very localized and encysted masses should be resected. The skin should be protected with emollient and anti-solar creams,⁶ avoiding massages as they do not dissolve the masses and, like corticosteroids, thin the overlying skin. Conventional liposuction, as well as ultrasound or vibratory electric massages, do not help.

Among the most commonly used medical treatments are non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, ^{5,8,12,25} intralesional², and systemic steroids, ^{4,13,14,25} such as prednisone at variable doses;⁸ colchicine at doses of 1-2 mg/day,^{2,13} antibiotics, ^{5,12} the most frequent being minocycline; cytotoxic drugs, cyclosporine;⁴ immunomodulators such as imiquimod

cream¹⁶ and etanercept.^{4,5,8,16,25} They are managed with methotrexate at variable doses (7-10 mg/week) together with folic acid for four months, evaluating the evolution of these patients and continuing their treatment, decreasing or increasing the doses according to the individualized response.^{8,13} Other drugs used are cyclophosphamide, chloroquine, and D-penicillamine.^{13,14}

Once the Rheumatology Service assesses a favorable evolution or response with pharmacological treatment, observing the decrease of local and general signs and symptoms, the Plastic Surgery Service reevaluates the patient to propose surgical reconstruction, provided that the quality of skin and tissues is manageable and reliable for a surgical procedure and that the patient has understood his disease not only in a physical scope.⁸

Part of the integral management is the assessment of psychological treatment since this disease has a self-induced origin due to dissatisfaction with the aesthetic aspect of their own body or distortion of the selfimage.⁸ It is also desirable that they get support because managing complications can lead to results opposite to what they initially sought, with a more significant self-esteem deterioration and guilt.

Some surgeons specialize in removing the injected material using different surgical techniques, with which most show clinical improvement. However, there needs to be more experience. Due to the migration they usually present, they can only be partially removed when applied in large quantities because they require a complex mutilation and repair process.^{2,4,5,12,16} When ulceration occurs at the application site, antibiotics and other drugs are additionally administered, reducing the inflammatory symptoms but not the clinical picture.^{2,13}

If the mass is small and deeply embedded, it is preferable to leave it under observation; if they are huge and infiltrating masses, it is advisable not to treat them, as reconstruction would leave severe deformities,^{2,7} as it requires extensive resections, since, in general, the substances affect the entire anatomical region involved and are very disseminated, because, with time, gravity and pressure cause the material to migrate. In addition, the resection generates important skin covering defects, requiring grafts or flaps of various sizes and, generally, with poor and disappointing esthetic results for both patient and surgeon.⁸

In patients infiltrated in the breast and presented complications, the most commonly used treatment was subcutaneous mastectomy with immediate or delayed reconstruction using silicone prostheses. However, they had a limited esthetic result. They presented a considerable number of complications,^{9,12} and even so, none of the procedures has been able to eliminate the compromised tissues and definitively solve their effects.²³ All patients with breast disease due to modeling agents in the study by Priego et al. were managed in conjunction with the Rheumatology Service for the medical treatment of human disease due to modeling agents.²⁴

In pelvic limb cases, immunosuppressants, non-steroidal analgesics, and the controlled

sub-atmospheric pressure system are used to avoid extensive debridement that leaves bloody areas that are difficult to manage due to bleeding and chronic multidrug-resistant infections that can cost the patient's life.¹

latrogenic allogenesis does not physically kill the patient but destroys the patient's psyche, self-esteem, and quality of life,⁷ of which are also complications.

DISCUSSION

There is medical literature endorsed by prestigious publishers in which the use of these substances in mice is mentioned, in which no elevation of immune response was found after application of the substance. An example of this literature is *Almir Moojen Nácul's Bioplasty, the Interactive Plastic*, where reference is made to using PMMA (polymethyl methacrylate) to carry out this type of procedure.

Suppose a substance is capable of providing volume and contour in various body areas. In that case, it must be chemically and physically inert, non-allergenic, non-carcinogenic, not cause inflammatory or foreign body reactions, not migrate from the site where it is applied and be affordable. For this reason, various materials have been used, such as liquid silicone, collagen, methyl methacrylate, and polyacrylamide gel, which, after some time, have not proven to be effective because they cause complications. All these products also create an autoimmune reaction that produces histological changes consisting of the appearance of macrophages containing vacuoles of oily material in their cytoplasm in the initial stages and later the formation of granulomas. The undesirable effects can appear up to several decades after application, causing them to be used in patients without fully knowing whether undesirable effects will appear. When studying what has happened with this type of substance, clinical trials should have a duration of 50 years before declaring the material under study innocuous. Unfortunately, not every laboratory will recover the money invested in research before that long. Such was the case with Bio-Alcamid.

There are already reports that silicone breast implants can trigger autoimmune reactions,

with the advantage that, if present, they can be removed.

History shows that not even the substances created and elaborated by pharmaceutical laboratories have been innocuous, let alone those not for medical use, used clandestinely. The idealization of the figure, as well as its value, causes a strong demand for substances for this use and those who apply them. The excess demand and scarce supply push prices upwards, making them attractive to professionals and nonprofessionals alike. Even for professionals, it will be difficult to distinguish the formal literature and the serious laboratories, and because they are well-remunerated, decisions will be biased.

The simplest thing to conclude would be that, except for autologous fat, there are no innocuous substances to be applied in the body, so if a patient persists in the idea of having them applied, he/she should only resort to certified plastic surgeons, who have already been established for some time, and that only autologous fat or substances that can be removed in their entirety if necessary, with a prior signature of informed consent, which should be kept indefinitely, taking into account that undesirable reactions can occur decades later.

REFERENCES

- Domínguez ZA, Haddad TJ, Torres BI, Jiménez MG, Sastré ON, Espinosa MS. Modelling disease: current problems in Mexico and presentation of cases. Cir Plast Iberolatinoam. 2013; 39: 399-405.
- Llergo VR, Enriquez MJ, Villagómez LE. Modeler's disease. Communication of 10 cases. Dermatol Rev Mex. 2013; 57: 159-164.
- Castro CM, Ríos CA, López CA, Ospina ML, Ortiz Y. Adverse effects of modeling substances in Cali, Colombia. Biomedica. 2021; 41: 123-130.
- Priego BR, Cárdenas R, Pérez CR, Rincón LR, Torres GB, Haddad TJ. Human disease by modelants. Substance analysis with magnetic resonance spectrometry. Cir Plast. 2010; 20: 120-123.
- 5. Murillo GG. Illicit use of modeling agents and adverse effects. Med Int Mex. 2010; 26: 346-349.
- Sanz BH, Eróstegui RC. latrogenic allogenosis, the great danger of biopolymers. Rev Cient Cienc Med. 2010; 13: 31-34.
- 7. Coiffman F. latrogenic allogenosis. A new disease. Cir Plast Iberolatinoam. 2008; 34: 1-9.
- Gordillo HJ, Alegre TE, Torres BI, Mendieta EM, Sastré ON. Multidisciplinary approach to human disease

by infiltration of modeling substances. Cir Plast Iberolatinoam. 2013; 39: 269-277.

- Gutiérrez SE, Durán VH, Duffi VB, Fernández SG, Papadópulos CA, Ochoa GJ. Bilateral immediate mastectomy and reconstruction in sclerosing breast lipogranuloma caused by injection of modeling agents. Report of a case. Cir Plast. 2003; 13: 123-127.
- Edwards PC, Fantasia JE. Review of long-term adverse effects associated with using chemically-modified animal and nonanimal source hyaluronic acid dermal fillers. Clin Interv Aging. 2007; 2: 509-519.
- Enriquez MJ, Alcala PD, Gonzalez GK, Aparicio GC. Sclerosing lipogranuloma due to modeling agents. Rev Cent Cermatol Pascua. 2007; 16: 19-23.
- Hadad TJ, Nieto PA, Saade JA, González LS, Muñoz OR, Rizo G. Bilateral TRAM flap breast reconstruction in patients mastectomized for modeling mastopathy. Ann Med (Mex). 2006; 51: 24-28.
- Vera Medina G, Cruz DP, Ramirez P, Gayosso RJ, Anduaga DH, Lievana TC, et al. Human adjuvant disease induced by foreign substances: a new model of ASIA (Shoenfeld's syndrome). Lupus. 2012; 21: 128-135.
- Alijotas RJ, García GV, Llurba E, Vilardell TM. Autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome (ASIA) induced by biomaterials injection other than silicone medical grade. Lupus. 2012; 21: 1326-1334.
- Torres GB, Medrano RG, Priego BR, Peláez BI, Burgos VR. Disease due to infiltration of modeling substances for aesthetic purposes. Cir Plast. 2010; 20: 124-132.
- Bauman SL, Halem LM. Lip silicone granulomatous foreign body reaction treated with aldara (imiquimod 5%). Dermatol Surg. 2004; 29: 429-432.
- Caldeira M, Ferreira AC. Siliconosis: autoimmune/ inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA). Isr Med Assoc J. 2012; 14: 137-138.
- Watad A, Quaresma M, Brown S, Cohen Tervaert JW, Rodriguez-Pint I, Cervera R, et al. Autoimmune/ inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (Shoenfeld's syndrome) - An update. Lupus. 2017; 26: 675-681.
- Borba V, Malkova A, Basantsova N, Halpert G, Andreoli L, Tincani A, et al. Classical examples of the concept of the ASIA syndrome. Biomolecules. 2020; 10: 1436.
- Wang J, Ting-Fang ST, King JC, Yiu WL. Silicone migration from silicone-injected breasts: magnetic resonance images. Ann Plast Surg. 2002; 48: 617-621.
- 21. Torres GB, Burgos VR, Medrano RG, Priego BR. Instrument to evaluate and stage the damage produced by the infiltration of modeling substances. Cir Plast. 2010; 20: 105-111.
- 22. Agmon-Levin N, Hughes GR, Shoenfeld Y. The spectrum of ASIA: 'autoimmune (auto-inflammatory)
- syndrome induced by adjuvants'. Lupus. 2012; 21: 118-120.
- 23. Fontbona TM, Altura MM, Gacitua GH, Britzman LB. Consequences of liquid silicone breast injection. Rev Chil Cir. 2003; 4: 389-393.
- Priego BR, Rincón LR, Serrano A, Torres GB, Haddad TJ, Vechyo CC. Classification and treatment of breast disease by modeling agents. Cir Plast. 2010; 20: 112-119.

25. Rapaport MJ. Silicone granulomas treated with etanercept. Arch Dermatol. 2005; 141: 1171.

Ethical considerations and responsibility: data privacy. By the protocols established in our work center, we declare that we have followed the protocols on patient data privacy and preserved their anonymity.

Funding: no financial support was received for the preparation of this work.

Disclosure: none of the authors have a conflict of interest in the conduct of this study.

Correspondence: Brandon Rafael Contreras-Díaz, MD. E-mail: rafa.contdz@gmail.com

www.medigraphic.org.mx



Chronic appendicitis, a case of an unresolved dilemma

Apendicitis crónica, un caso de un dilema no resuelto

José Francisco Camacho-Aguilera,^{*} José Manuel Herrera-Morales[‡]

Keywords:

chronic abdominal pain, appendicitis, recurrent abdominal pain.

Palabras clave:

dolor abdominal crónico, apendicitis, dolor abdominal recurrente.

* Department of General Surgery, Hospital General de Zona No. 3. [‡] General Physician. University of Valle de Mexico.

Mexican Institute of Social Security, Mexico.

Received: 11/12/2020 Accepted: 04/17/2021



How to cite: Camacho-Aguilera JF, Herrera-Morales JM. Chronic appendicitis, a case of an unresolved dilemma. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 243-247. https://dx.doi.org/10.35366/109127

ABSTRACT

Introduction: acute appendicitis is one of the most frequent surgical emergencies in the world; however, there is also an entity known as chronic appendicitis, which has been studied over time to establish criteria for its diagnostic approach. Clinical case: we present the case of a patient with symptoms of 18 months of evolution, who underwent surgery, a histopathological report compatible with a chronic inflammatory process. Conclusions: the term chronic appendicitis is a diagnostic challenge that health professionals should be aware of and consider as a diagnostic suspicion to avoid complications.

cute appendicitis is one of the

A cute appendicute ...

worldwide, with an estimated lifetime

risk of 7-8% and an incidence of 90-100

patients per 100,000 inhabitants per year in

developed countries. Chronic appendicitis

is a rare condition demonstrated in several

recent reports.¹ This chronic form is

suspected when there is a pain in the right

lower quadrant for more than three weeks,²

and its existence is corroborated based on

histopathological findings showing chronic

inflammation.^{3,4} A third related term is

recurrent appendicitis, which refers to

different episodes of similar abdominal

pain in the right lower quadrant. Recurrent

appendicitis and chronic appendicitis have

been said to account for 10% and 1 to 1.5% of

INTRODUCTION

RESUMEN

Introducción: la apendicitis aguda es una de las urgencias quirúrgicas más frecuentes en el mundo; sin embargo, existe también una entidad conocida como apendicitis crónica, que a lo largo del tiempo se ha estudiado con el fin de establecer criterios para su abordaje diagnóstico. *Caso clínico:* se presenta el caso de un paciente con cuadro de 18 meses de evolución, intervenido quirúrgicamente, reporte histopatológico compatible con proceso inflamatorio crónico. Conclusiones: el término de apendicitis crónica es hoy en día un desafío diagnóstico que los profesionales de la salud deben conocer y considerar como sospecha diagnóstica, para así evitar complicaciones.

patients with appendicitis, respectively.^{1-3,5-7} Some authors have pointed out that chronic appendicitis is a misnomer for recurrent acute appendicitis.⁸ However, other authors use chronic recurrent appendicitis framing in a single entity of these two clinical manifestations.7

This article presents a case histologically compatible with chronic appendicitis, with recurrent attacks of pain, in addition to a review of the subject.

PRESENTATION OF THE CASE

This is a 62-year-old male patient with a single history of recurrent abdominal pain in the lower quadrant and right flank, of low intensity, stabbing and without triggering factors; in addition, the patient occasionally used oral analgesics to control the pain. These pain

without complications and without the use of drainage (*Figure 2*). The immediate postoperative evolution tended to improve, with adequate oral tolerance; finally, the patient was discharged in the first 24 postoperative hours.

The histopathologic report identifies the presence of a mixed inflammatory infiltrate with the presence of reactive mature lymphocytes, plasma cells, foamy histiocytes and abundant polymorphonuclear cells. There is microabscess formation. No neoplastic cells are identified. Six months after surgery, no post-surgical complications were observed and the remission of symptoms was complete.

DISCUSSION

It was in 1886 when Reginald Fitz described the importance of appendectomy for treating acute appendicitis in his famous text *Perforating inflammation of the vermiform appendix with particular reference to its early diagnosis and treatment*. In the same document, he used the term chronic appendicitis for the first time.⁹ It was in 1949 when Crymble PT and Forsythe I pointed out chronic appendicitis as one or more mild attacks of appendicitis in a sequence that may include more severe



Figure 2: Incision along the length of the removed appendix, showing the distension of its lumen, its thickened wall, and the absence of contents.



Figure 1: Removal of the appendix through the surgical

symptoms had started 18 months prior to his

current condition, presented a periodicity of

one attack every two months and, sporadically,

were accompanied only by nausea without

iliac fossa, accompanied by nausea and

vomiting, without fever, in addition to a feeling of abdominal distension. Physical examination revealed the presence of induration in the right lower quadrant, hypersensitivity and peritoneal irritation. Laboratory results showed no elevation in the leukocyte count or left shift. Ultrasound was performed and found abundant gas in intestinal loops, as well as a highly distended blind loop with gaseous

He started two days earlier with the presence of severe stabbing pain in the right

Emergency surgery was performed where a subcecal appendix was found adhered to the posterior wall of the peritoneal cavity, highly distended and with thickened walls, without fluid inside (*Figure 1*). The measurements recorded for the specimen were $10 \times 4 \times 4$ cm, with a base of 2 cm. There was no evidence of free intra-abdominal fluid, nor alterations in adjacent organs. Open appendectomy

was performed with management of the

appendiceal stump with Parker-Kerr technique,

incision.

vomiting.

content.

attacks.¹⁰ To this day, the definition of chronic appendicitis has yet to reach a consensus, so different definitions very similar can be found. Some authors define it as a long-standing inflammation or fibrosis of the appendix, which clinically presents as prolonged (more than 48 hours) or intermittent abdominal pain.¹ Others have proposed the following

than 48 hours) or intermittent abdominal pain.¹ Others have proposed the following criteria for chronic appendicitis: 1) persistence of symptoms for more than two weeks, 2) confirmation of chronic inflammation on pathological examination, and 3) relief of symptoms after appendectomy.^{7,8}

Chronic appendicitis seems controversial among physicians,⁵ although it has slowly gained acceptance in the medical community in recent years.² This entity is a diagnostic challenge because it is frequently misdiagnosed and does not present with typical appendicular symptoms.^{1,6} Chronic appendicitis represents 1 to 1.5% of patients with appendicitis.^{1,2,5-7} Some series have found a 7.9% incidence of chronic appendicitis and a 2.8% incidence of recurrent appendicitis in histopathologic studies of specimens removed for appendicitis.¹¹ It is likely that the extensive use of appendectomy has displaced the more frequent occurrence of chronic or recurrent appendicitis.^{7,8} There is no sex predilection for chronic appendicitis.^{7,11,12}

The pathophysiology of chronic appendicitis is thought to begin with partial, transient, or recurrent obstruction of the appendiceal lumen,^{1,5,8} or excessive production of mucus,¹³ with subsequent accumulation of appendiceal secretion and progressive dilatation of the appendix, which causes the intraluminal pressure to increase and eventually release the obstruction.^{5,8} For example, a small appendicolith may produce such partial obstruction and cause mild symptoms; once the appendicolith increases in volume, the symptoms become more intense;¹² with it, there is partial or complete relief.^{5,8} It has been suggested that copro stasis, rather than coproliths, may significantly contribute to acute exacerbations of chronic appendicitis.¹³ Mild local inflammation after resolution of the acute appendicitis attack could lead to chronic right lower quadrant discomfort.^{5,8} Possible causes of chronic appendicitis may be

infections (e.g., actinomycosis), inflammation of neighboring organs, lymphomas, intestinal tuberculosis, appendiceal neoplasia, peritoneal carcinomatosis, parasitic diseases (e.g., helminthiasis, amebiasis),⁴ cystic fibrosis, and Crohn's disease.¹⁴

The clinical features of chronic appendicitis are similar to those with acute appendicitis but with a longer duration,^{8,15} less intensity, and less pain.^{1,7,15} They usually persist for a more extended period than the typical 1-2 days in acute appendicitis, especially for more than seven days of evolution, even without significant clinical, laboratory, or imaging data of inflammation.⁴ On several occasions, the clinical manifestations may extend for weeks, months, or years,⁵ with episodic and recurrent pain.^{1,3} The most prolonged reported duration of chronic abdominal pain associated with recurrent appendicitis was 18 years.² The clinical picture may or may not present with fever or associated with systemic symptoms.¹ The diagnosis of recurrent or chronic appendicitis should be considered in all cases of long-standing abdominal pain, although it is often made by exclusion.¹⁵

Laboratory tests will show leukocyte levels that may be normal or slightly increased, with no deviation of the white formula to the left.^{1,15} On CT study, chronic appendicitis will show many of the signs seen in acute appendicitis; these include increased appendiceal diameter (greater than 5-7 mm), thickened appendiceal wall (with a target or halo sign), periappendicular fat enhancement, lymphadenopathy, cecal mass effect, focal cecal thickening, calcified appendicoliths, arrowhead sign, phlegmon, and fluid.^{1,3,8,14} In the case of an appendix with a diameter greater than 9 mm, in a patient without peritoneal irritation or leukocytosis, chronic appendicitis should be suspected. These data can be associated with the presence of an appendicolith. In the case of pediatric patients, MRI may be used if available. Increased use of imaging studies may reveal that chronic appendicitis is more common than previously thought.¹

No laboratory or imaging test can establish suspicion of chronic appendicitis,⁸

so the diagnosis is often based on chronic inflammatory changes seen on histopathology.¹ Histopathological findings of chronic appendicitis include inflammatory infiltration consisting of lymphocytes, histiocytes, and eosinophils associated with fibrosis of the appendiceal wall.^{3,4,8,12} There is also a replacement of submucosal fat by fibrous tissue and periappendicular plastron. Perforation and gangrene of the appendix are not associated with chronic appendicitis, according to Sgourakis G et al.¹³ There may be a proliferation of neural cells.¹² The protein gene product 9.5 (PGP9.5) has also been found to be a neutral factor in the pathophysiology of pain in the disease.⁷ The presence of recurrent attacks of pain histologically associated with acute inflammation may define recurrent appendicitis.¹² The differential diagnosis of chronic appendicitis is established with ureteral colic, diverticulitis of the ascending colon, parasitosis in the cecum, gynecological conditions, adhesions, hernias, regional ileitis, pancreatitis, inflammatory bowel disease, tuberculosis, lymphoma, and mesenteric panniculitis.³

Although not considered a surgical emergency, most patients have a resolution of pain with appendectomy.⁶ That is why, as in acute appendicitis, the treatment for chronic appendicitis is appendectomy.⁷ When a normal appendix is identified, this organ should be removed to rule out appendicitis in future pain episodes.³ Finally, complications of chronic appendicitis, when not suspected and not promptly resolved, may include intra-abdominal infections, intestinal obstruction or perforation, bladder perforation, fistulas, pylephlebitis, liver abscess, and sepsis.¹

CONCLUSIONS

Chronic appendicitis represents a condition that has been controversial and even questioned throughout history. However, clinical data and documented histopathological findings have supported this pathology over the years. It is essential to mention and consider the different presentations, which are considered atypical, so the physician can keep this in mind when establishing the diagnostic suspicion and thus avoid possible complications that may result in a poor prognosis.

REFERENCES

- 1. Kim D, Butterworth SA, Goldman R. Chronic appendicitis in children. Can Fam Physician. 2016; 62: e304-e305.
- 2. Demeke MM, Gebru TG. A case report on recurrent appendicitis: An often forgotten and atypical cause of recurrent abdominal pain. Ann Med Surg. 2018; 28: 16-19.
- Chang SKY, Chan P. Recurrent appendicitis as a cause of recurrent right iliac fossa pain. Singapore Med J. 2004; 45: 6-8.
- Kuri OJA, De Luna DR, Marín D, Espinosa AL, Martínez BP. Chronic appendicitis of 3 years of evolution secondary to actinomycosis infection. Cir Esp. 2011; 90: 131-134.
- 5. Kothadia JP, Katz S, Ginzburg L. Chronic appendicitis: uncommon cause of chronic abdominal pain. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. 2015; 8: 160-162.
- Shah SS, Gaffney RR, Dykes TM, Golstein JP. Chronic appendicitis: An often forgotten cause of recurrent abdominal pain. Am J Med. 2013; 126: e7-e8.
- Andiran F, Dayi D, Caydere M, Üstün H. Chronic recurrent appendicitis in children: An insidious and neglected cause of surgical abdomen. Turk J Med Sci. 2002; 32: 351-354.
- Safei M, Moeinei L, Rasti M. Recurrent abdominal pain and chronic appendicitis. J Res Med Sci. 2004; 1: 11-14.
- Fitz RH. Perforating inflammation of the vermiform appendix, with special reference to its early diagnosis and treatment. Am J Med Sci. 1886; 92: 321-346.
- 10. Crymble PT, Forsythe I. Chronic appendicitis in children. Ulster Med J. 1949; 18: 153-172.
- Rehman S, Israr KA, Ayyub AH, Alam F, Vasenwala SM, Alam K, et al. Retrospective analysis of appendicectomy specimens: a tertiary care center-based study. Saudi Surg J. 2017; 5: 71-75.
- Lai DH, Chuang CH, Yu JC, Hsieh CB, Wu HS, Lin CH. Chronic or recurrent appendicitis? Rev Esp Enferm Dig. 2007; 99: 613-621.
- Sgourakis G, Sotiropoulos GC, Molmenti EP, Eibl C, Bonticous S, Moege J, et al. Are acute exacerbations of chronic inflammatory appendicitis triggered by coprostasis and/or coproliths? World J Gastroenterol.
 2008; 14: 3179-3182.
- Shaoul R, Rimar Y, Toubi A, Mogilner J, Polak R, Jaffe M. Crohn's disease and recurrent appendicitis: A case report. Wolrd J Gastroenterol. 2005; 11: 6891-6893.
- Montiel-Jarquín AJ, Gómez-Conde E, Reyes-Páramo P, Romero-Briones C, Mendoza-García AV, García-Ramírez UN. Chronic appendicitis. Clinical case. Rev Med Inst Mex Seguro Soc. 2008; 46: 431-434.

Ethical considerations and responsibility: the authors declare that they followed the protocols of their work center on the publication of patient data, safeguarding their right to privacy through the confidentiality of their data.

Funding: no financial support was received for this work.

Disclosure: the authors declare no conflict of interest in the work.

Correspondence: José Francisco Camacho-Aguilera E-mail: scientia medica@hotmail.com

www.medigraphic.org.mx



Breast cancer in men. Case report

Cáncer de mama en hombre. Reporte de caso

Tere Ivanova Alipio-Núñez,* Luis E Cisneros-Manríquez,* Juan Antonio Loyo-Cosme‡

Keywords:

breast cancer, mastectomy, male, BI-RADS, tamoxifen.

Palabras clave:

cáncer de mama, mastectomía, masculino, BI-RADS, tamoxifeno. ABSTRACT

Breast cancer in men is a relatively rare entity that occurs in low proportion; however, its importance in men should not be ignored due to the poor prognosis since its diagnosis in late stages and its high mortality rate; paradoxically, more men have died from breast cancer than from testicular cancer. We present the case of a male patient with no previous history of importance, who went to the general surgery office for presenting retro areolar tumor and was referred to the oncological surgery office, where he underwent ultrasound, which was classified as a BI-RADS 5, so it was scheduled for surgical treatment. Due to the infrequency of this pathology, it was decided to report this case.

RESUMEN

El cáncer de mama en hombres es una entidad relativamente poco frecuente que se presenta en muy baja proporción, sin embargo, su importancia en hombres no debe ser ignorada debido al pobre pronóstico desde su diagnóstico en últimos estadios y a su alta tasa de mortalidad; paradójicamente más hombres han muerto por cáncer de mama que de cáncer testicular. Se presenta el caso de un paciente del sexo masculino sin antecedentes de importancia, quien acudió a la consulta de cirugía general por presentar tumor retroareolar, fue referido a la consulta de cirugía oncológica donde se le realizó ultrasonido, en el cual se catalogó como un BI-RADS 5, por lo que se programó para tratamiento quirúrgico. Por lo poco frecuente de esta patología se decide realizar el reporte de caso.

INTRODUCTION

B reast cancer is common in women but relatively rare in men, accounting for approximately less than 1% of all diagnosed cases.¹ According to epidemiological figures, between 1975 and 2015, its incidence was 40%, exceeding that of women by 25%.² It is usually observed in the last decades of life (60-70 years).

The most critical risk factor is a positive family history of breast cancer: the risk doubles if the history is positive for first-degree relatives and quintuples if other first-degree relatives are affected.³ Breast cancer in men occurs more frequently in estrogen receptor (ER)-positive patients.⁴ Neoadjuvant tamoxifen-based endocrine therapy has now been added as a treatment option for breast cancer in men.⁵

CLINICAL CASE

A 63-year-old female patient with a history of appendectomy seven years ago, fracture of the proximal humerus due to a gunshot wound, diabetes mellitus of seven years of evolution in treatment with biguanides and sulfonylureas, systemic arterial hypertension of seven years of evolution in treatment with ARA II, with no significant family history, who came to the consultation for an increase in breast volume of seven years of evolution, which was increasing progressively.

Physical examination revealed a painless mass measuring 4×5 cm, mobile, thickening and erythema of the skin, and negative axilla and supraclavicular fossa for adenopathy. Ultrasound was performed, which described a retro areolar lesion with an ovoid image

* Second-year resident physician of

General Surgery.

[‡] Oncologic Surgeon. Primary physician of

Oncologic Surgery.

Tapachula, Chiapas.

Received: 10/14/2021

Accepted: 11/19/2022

General Hospital of Zone

No. 1 "Nueva Frontera".

How to cite: Alipio-Núñez TI, Cisneros-Manríquez LE, Loyo-Cosme JA. Breast cancer in men. Case report. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 248-250. https://dx.doi.org/10.35366/109128

antiparallel to the skin, hypoechoic with internal calcifications and lobulated margins; Doppler showed increased vascularity measuring $45.4 \times 45.8 \times 46.6$ mm, with an approximate volume of 50.7 cm³; axillary region level 1 with 15×10 mm Doppler lymph node with peripheral vascularity, so it was classified as a BI-RADS 5.

According to the clinical picture and the findings during the ultrasound, it was decided to schedule a modified radical mastectomy of the Madden type; subsequently, a transoperative histopathological study was performed with a report of a fungating lesion suspicious for malignancy.

The histopathologic diagnosis was infiltrating ductal carcinoma without a specific pattern with areas of intraductal carcinoma of the comedocarcinoma type, high-grade central necrosis. The lymph node dissection of the right axilla was positive for ductal carcinoma metastasis in two of the 18 lymph nodes dissected.

DISCUSSION

In most males, cancer presents between 60 and 70 years of age (five to 10 years earlier than in women) with an average age of 62 years and is usually diagnosed in more advanced stages due to a delay in diagnosis.⁶ Some of the risk factors for the development of breast cancer in men are age, history of breast cancer in first-degree relatives (either male or female), hyperestrogenism, history of mediastinal radiation, history of exogenous estrogen use, genetic predisposition (BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations, CHEK2, PALB2) and Klinefelter's syndrome.⁷ Studies have shown that hormone replacement therapy increases the risk of breast cancer, especially in the transgender population, especially in transgender women (male sex at birth and female gender identification), with a mean age of onset of 52 years.⁸

Infiltrating ductal carcinoma is the most common subtype of breast cancer in men; it usually presents unilaterally, fixed, and as a painless subareolar tumor mass, which may be the only symptomatology presented by the patient. It appears spiculated with irregular borders and, in up to 15% of cases, as a dense nodular mass with defined borders.⁷ At present, there is no prevention program. However, ultrasound should be considered the first-line imaging study due to its low cost and easy accessibility.⁹ In the ultrasound study, microcalcifications that are smaller in number, non-linear and thicker, compared to that of women, are present in up to 30% of cases. In the transgender population who have not undergone a mastectomy, they should be protocolized with mastography as preventive studies from the age of 50 if they have used hormone replacement therapy for more than five years.⁸

It has been observed that men with breast cancer have a survival disadvantage compared to women with breast cancer of up to 5 to 10 years due to their diagnosis in more advanced stages and to the primary site of the tumor, since in men, it occurs in the central area below the nipple, in addition to the fact that the histology of the tumor contributes to a worse prognosis than tumors located in the upper quadrant.

Today, it has been demonstrated that neoadjuvant endocrine therapy with tamoxifen should be the first choice and should be administered for an initial period of five years. Tamoxifen was considered the standard of treatment in premenopausal women with ER+ receptor-positive breast cancer and aromatase inhibitors in postmenopausal women, and given the similarity between breast cancer in men and cancer in postmenopausal women, aromatase inhibitors were used as a treatment for breast cancer in men: However, recent studies have shown a reduction in mortality in those who received tamoxifen compared to aromatase inhibitors, since the production of testicular estrogens is not abolished by the inhibitors, which leaves tamoxifen as the first treatment option. Unfortunately, there are side effects with the use of tamoxifen, which include reduced libido, weight gain, hot flashes, and mood alterations, as well as deep vein thrombosis, leading to a high dropout rate from treatment due to these side effects.

Another aspect to highlight is the scarce data on the psychological consequences of this pathology in the male population. Patients with breast cancer have an increased risk of obesity, comorbidities, reduced physical activity, poor quality of life, and deterioration in health associated with depression or anxiety.⁵ The recommended study for followup and cancer detection in patients already undergoing curative therapy is ipsilateral mastography in patients with lumpectomy and annual contralateral mastography in patients with a history of breast cancer or genetic predisposition; genetic counseling should also be offered.¹⁰

REFERENCES

- Jylling AMB, Jensen V, Lelkaitis G, Christiansen P, Nielsen SS, Lautrup MD. Male breast cancer: clinicopathological characterization of a National Danish cohort 1980-2009. Breast Cancer. 2020; 27: 683-695.
- 2. Konduri S, Singh M, Bobustuc G, Rovin R, Kassam A. Epidemiology of male breast cancer. Breast. 2020; 54: 8-14.
- Spreafico FS, Cardoso-Filho C, Cabello C, Sarian LO, Zeferino LC, Vale DB. Breast cancer in men: clinical and pathological analysis of 817 cases. Am J Mens Health. 2020; 14: 1557988320908109.
- 4. Yadav S, Karam D, Bin Riaz I, Xie H, Durani U, Duma N, et al. Male breast cancer in the United States: Treatment patterns and prognostic factors in the 21st century. Cancer. 2020; 126: 26-36.
- 5. Fentiman IS. Surgical options for male breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2018; 172: 539-544.
- Elimimimian EB, Elson L, Li H, Liang H, Bilani N, Zabor EC, et al. Male breast cancer: a comparative analysis from the National Cancer Database. World J Mens Health. 2021; 39: 506-515.

- Sahin C, Ucpinar BA, Mut DT, Yilmaz O, Ucak R, Kaya C et al. Male breast cancer with radiological and histopathological findings. Sisli Etfal Hastan Tip Bul. 2020; 54: 375-379.
- de Blok CJM, Wiepjes CM, Nota NM, van Engelen K, Adank MA, Dreijerink KMA, et al. Breast cancer risk in transgender people receiving hormone treatment: nationwide cohort study in the Netherlands. BMJ. 2019; 365: 11652.
- 9. Gucalp A, Traina TA, Eisner JR, Parker JS, Selitsky SR, Park BH, et al. Male breast cancer: a disease distinct from female breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019; 173: 37-48.
- Hassett MJ, Somerfield MR, Baker ER, Cardoso F, Kansal KJ, Kwait DC, et al. Management of male breast cancer: ASCO Guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2020; 38: 1849-1863.

Ethical considerations and responsibility: the authors declare that they followed the protocols of their work center on the publication of patient data, safeguarding their right to privacy through the confidentiality of their data.

Funding: no financial support was received for this work.

Disclosure: the authors declare no conflict of interest in the work.

Correspondence: Tere Ivanova Alipio Núñez E-mail: novalipio@gmail.com

www.medigraphic.org.mx



A rare coexistence of cholecystobiliary and cholecystoenteric fistula with pyogenic abscesses. Report of a case

Fístula colecistobiliar y colecistoentérica con abscesos hepáticos piógenos, una rara coexistencia. Informe de un caso

Javier Benítez Beltrán,* Gustavo Hernández Marcelo,‡ Gloria María Guzmán Arguello§

Keywords:

Mirizzi syndrome, pyogenic liver abscess, cholecystobiliary fistulas, cholecystoenteric fistulas.

Palabras clave:

síndrome de Mirizzi, absceso hepático piógeno, fístulas colecistobiliares, fístulas colecistoentéricas.

 * Chief physician of the service.
 ‡ Attending physician.
 § Second-year resident of General Surgery.

General Surgery Service of the Regional Hospital "Lic. Adolfo López Mateos", ISSSTE. Mexico City, Mexico.

Received: 07/18/2020 Accepted: 07/27/2021



How to cite: Benítez BJ, Hernández MC, Guzmán AGM. A rare coexistence of cholecystobiliary and cholecystoenteric fistula with pyogenic abscesses. Report of a case. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 251-258. https://dx.doi.org/10.35366/109129

ABSTRACT

In October 2019, we attended the rare association of pyogenic liver abscess with Mirizzi syndrome type V in a 49-year-old female patient with abdominal pain and icteric syndrome. The clinical laboratory detected her endoscopic and radiological studies, biliary obstruction secondary to 2 cm common hepatic litho, pneumobilia, fever, leukocytosis, and severe systemic inflammatory response, which required surgery. During the intervention, there were findings of a scleroatrophic gallbladder and double fistulas to the common hepatic and duodenum. The case was solved with cholecystectomy, cholecystoduodenal fistula closure, and biliodigestive hepatic-jejunal bypass with Hepp technique. The abscesses of the right lobe of the liver were documented and drained by interventional radiology guided by ultrasound and computed tomography. She required intensive care, antibiotics, and total parenteral nutrition. She remained for 50 days in two hospitals and was discharged to the outpatient clinic for an ultrasound follow-up of the abscesses and continued antibiotics according to the cultures. No malignancy was reported in the scleroatrophic gallbladder. Conclusion: Mirizzi syndrome is classified into five types according to Csendes and Beltran; type V is the least common and is divided into Va and Vb depending on the presence or not of some cholecystoenteric fistula with or without biliary ileus, respectively. We propose adding a Vc classification when, in addition to the above, there is hepatic involvement due to abscesses or other associated pathology in the liver since the obstruction and cholangitis caused by this disease are responsible for this specific picture.

RESUMEN

En octubre de 2019 atendimos la rara asociación de abscesos hepáticos piógenos con síndrome de Mirizzi tipo V en una paciente de 49 años con dolor abdominal y síndrome ictérico. Se le detectó, mediante estudios clínicos de laboratorio, endoscópico y radiológico, una obstrucción biliar secundaria a lito de 2 cm en el hepático común, neumobilia, fiebre, leucocitosis y una severa respuesta inflamatoria sistémica, por lo que requirió cirugía. Durante la intervención se tuvieron hallazgos de vesícula escleroatrófica, fístulas dobles al hepático común y duodeno. El caso fue solucionado con colecistectomía, cierre de fístula colecistoduodenal y derivación biliodigestiva hepático-yeyuno con técnica de Hepp. Los abscesos del lóbulo derecho del hígado fueron documentados y drenados por radiología intervencionista guiada por ultrasonido y tomografía computarizada. Se requirió de cuidados intensivos, antibióticos y nutrición parenteral total, permaneció 50 días en dos hospitales y egresó a consulta externa para seguimiento mediante ultrasonido de los abscesos y continuación de antibióticos de acuerdo a los cultivos. No se reportó malignidad en la vesícula biliar escleroatrófica. Conclusión: el síndrome de Mirizzi se clasifica en cinco tipos de acuerdo con Csendes y Beltrán, el tipo V es el menos común y se divide en Va y Vb dependiendo de la presencia o no de algún tipo de fístula colecistoentérica con o sin íleo biliar, respectivamente. Proponemos agregar una clasificación Vc, cuando además de lo anterior exista afección hepática por abscesos u otra patología asociada en el hígado, ya que la obstrucción y colangitis que provoca esta enfermedad es la responsable de este cuadro específico.

INTRODUCTION

Tn 1948, Pablo Luis Mirizzi described a syndrome that bears his name, Mirizzi's syndrome (MS), consisting of obstructive jaundice due to mild extrinsic compression of the common hepatic duct, which he named: hepatic duct syndrome.¹ This MS results from acute and chronic inflammation caused by an impacted stone in the Hartmann's pouch or the cystic duct, with partial or complete obstruction of the main bile duct (PBC), which presents a problematic preoperative diagnosis and controversial therapeutic management. As the inflammatory process progresses, necrosis and even internal biliary fistula with the PBC or digestive tract may occur; the prevalence of this pathology varies from 0.05 to 5%; however, in Latin countries, the prevalence is estimated at 4.7 to 5.7%. There is a strong association between gallbladder cancer and this syndrome, with an estimated prevalence of 5-28%. Likewise, it is found in an age range of 60 ± 12.4 years. The different classifications have been based on the presence or absence of fistulous erosion between the gallbladder and the PBC and the extent of destruction of the latter. Mc Sherry and coworkers in 1982 classified SM into two types; in turn, reclassified in 1989 by Csendes into four types, and finally into five types by Beltrán MA and Csendes A.²⁻⁶

Mirizzi syndrome is currently classified as follows (*Figure 1*):²

Type I (11%): extrinsic compression of the common hepatic by impacted lithium in the neck/infundibulum or cystic duct of the gallbladder.

Type II (41%): the fistula involves less than one-third of the circumference of the common hepatic.

Type III (44%): involves 1/3 to 2/3 of the circumference of the common bile duct.

Type IV (4%): the destruction of the common bile duct wall.

Type V (0.9%): any cholecystoenteric fistula.

Type Va: with biliary ileus.

Type Vb: without biliary ileus.

Fistula to the hepatic duct without fistula to the gastrointestinal tract but with atrophy of the left hepatic lobe has been reported.⁷

A high association of gallbladder cancer (27%) is also known in Mirizzi syndrome. Elevated CA 19-9 levels indicate a coincident malignant gallbladder tumor in these cases. Because of this high coincidence of Mirizzi syndrome and gallbladder cancer, a transoperative gallbladder biopsy is recommended in all patients.⁸

Ultrasonography, magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography

	Chronic cholecystitis	Extrinsic compression of main biliary tract	Chole	ecystocholedocal	fistula	Cholecystoenteric fistula
Stages	Y		Y	Š	Š	
Mc Sherry and others	1982	Type I		Type II		E-3
Csendes and others	1989	Type I	Type II	Type III	Type IV	
Csendes and other	2007	Type I	Type II	Type III	Type IV	Type V

Figure 1: Evolution of the current classification of Mirizzi syndrome.²

(MRCP), and endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) could have a diagnostic suspicion rate in 77.8, and 82.3% of cases, and the combination with choledochoscopy procedure could improve the diagnostic sensitivity of MS. Intraoperative choledochoscopy is effective in confirming SM during operation. Open surgery is the current standard for the management of patients with SM. Laparoscopic surgery should be limited to type I MS, and patients should be selected very strictly.⁹

Hepatic abscesses are the most common type of visceral abscesses; however, they continue to be potentially fatal, with a mortality of between 2 and 12%. It presents an incidence of 2.3 cases per 100,000 and is more frequent in women with a ratio of 3.3:1; on the other hand, the incidence changes in Asia, increasing to 11 to 18 cases per 100,000 inhabitants. Risk factors include diabetes, hepatobiliary or pancreatic pathology, liver transplant, history of pulgue intake, acute appendicitis, sepsis, diverticulitis, and colorectal neoplasia. Among the most associated pathogens, we find *E. coli*, K. pneumoniae, anaerobes, S. milleri, S. aureus, and Candida spp. and Pseudomonas aeruginosa, being these agents infrequent causes and can be found only in specific contexts. Pathogens may vary depending on the geographical region.^{10,11}

The pyogenic liver abscess should be considered as a sequel of repeated episodes of cholangitis caused by biliary lithiasis (up to 40% of the cases), connections between the intestine and the biliary tract, papillotomies, and biliary stents. Its diagnosis and treatment continue to be problematic issues. Ultrasound (USG) and tomography (CT) are currently used to identify this pathology adequately. For diagnosis, patients must meet at least one of the following criteria image-guided drainage of abscesses in one or more intrahepatic cavities,12 one or more abscesses found during the surgical event,¹³ and one or more inflammatory lesions or abscesses demonstrated by imaging, together with symptoms and signs of infection, as well as blood cultures or liver biopsies compatible with inflammatory foci and resolution of the lesions after administration of antibiotic therapy.¹⁴

Within the clinical picture, the main symptoms are fever and abdominal pain in

90% of the cases. Abdominal pain is localized in the right hypochondrium, accompanied by rebound and tenderness, followed by nausea, vomiting, anorexia, general malaise, and weight loss in up to 50-75% of cases. Laboratorially, patients present elevated bilirubin, liver enzymes, and alkaline phosphatase in 67-90%; we also find leukocytosis, hypoalbuminemia, and anemia in a third of the cases.¹⁵

Treatment is based on percutaneous drainage guided by ultrasound or CT, laparoscopically or ERCP, accompanied by antimicrobial treatment, the carbapenems being the carbapenems group of choice. Percutaneous drainage guided by interventional radiology has a success rate of 80 to 87% and is currently considered the gold standard; however, in those abscesses with thickened and septated walls that cannot be adequately evacuated, the laparoscopic approach is preferred.^{12,16-18}

PRESENTATION OF THE CASE

49-year-old woman sent from a second-level hospital with a history of right tibia fracture in 1999, left pelvic limb thrombosis (LPM) requiring arterial bypass in 2013; smoking for three years, currently suspended—repetitive episodes of vesicular colic of 10 years of evolution only with medical management.

She started her current condition on October 2, 2019, with abdominal pain in the epigastrium, general condition attack, diaphoresis, unquantified fever, dizziness, nausea, and vomiting on several occasions, adding jaundice and choluria after seven days–a weight loss of 15 kg in the last six years.

On physical examination on admission, cardiopulmonary without compromise. Nonpainful soft depressible abdomen, left lower extremity slightly hypotrophic. Laboratory on admission 2-X-2019 with glucose 242 mg/dl, urea 20 mg/dl, Cr 40 mg/dl, GGT 167 U/l, BD 0.53 mg/dl, BI 0.35 mg/dl, BT 0.88 mg/dl, FA 446 U/l, AST 48 U/l, ALT 55 U/l, DHL 138 U/l, Na 138 mmol/l, K 3.5 mmol/l, Cl 104 mmol/l, leukocytes 14.8 × $10^3/\mu$ l, neutrophils 80.6%, Hb 9.1 g/dl, Ht 26.3%, platelets 72,000 × $10^3/\mu$ l, EGO: blood 1,000 erythrocytes/field, Prot 10 mg/dl, white blood cells (WBC) 0-3/field, scanty bacteria, TP 14.8 sec, PTT 39.4 sec, INR



Figure 2: A) Tomographic section with abscesses in segments VI-VII and pneumobilia. *B)* Endoscopic image with Amsterdam prosthesis in an ampulla. *C)* Plain abdominal X-ray with Amsterdam prosthesis in the common bile duct.

Figure 3:

A) Chest teleradiography with right pleural effusion. B) Control chest teleradiography with the probe in a good position.



1.08, tumor markers: CEA 4.4 ng/ml, CA 19.9 < 0.8 U/ml, CA 125 26.8 U/ml, AFP 1.5 ng/ml and Ca 19.9 0.8 U/ml.

USG of the liver and biliary tract was performed on admission, reporting a heterogeneous parenchymal liver gland with hypoechoic image, poorly defined borders, diameters of 6.37 \times 5.23 cm located in segment VI, heterogeneous, with poor vascularity suggestive of hepatic abscess vs. hepatocarcinoma, preserved portal vessels, intrahepatic ducts with air inside suggestive of pneumobilia, common bile duct and portal vein of normal caliber. Laboratory one day after admission with glucose 86 mg/dl, urea 17 mg/dl, BUN 7.9 mg/dl, Ca 6.9 mg/ dl, GGT 349 U/l, BD 3.34 mg/dl, Bl 1.29 mg/ dl, BT 4.63 mg/dl, FA 410 U/l, AST 37 U/l, ALT 28 U/I, DHL 131 U/I, Na 134 mmol/I, K 3.7 mmol/l, CL 108 mmol/l, leukocytes 13.3

× $10^{3}/\mu$ l, neutrophils 85.1%, HB 10.4 g/dl, OHT 30.2%, PLT 220 × $10^{3}/\mu$ l, PT 15.6 sec, PTT 34.7 sec, INR 1.16.

An abdominal CT scan was performed on 10/02/19, which reported findings of a hypodense image of 80×53 mm with 23 HU in segments VI and VII concerning liver abscess on the right side, hepatomegaly at the expense of the same lobe, presence of pneumobilia, which is observed in communication with the anterior wall of the gallbladder, little free fluid in the pelvic cavity, bilateral pleural effusion and passive atelectasis. Similarly, ERCP was requested on 10-09-19, which reported a common bile duct of 10 mm, a circular filling defect of approximately 20 mm, which delays emptying the contrast medium from the biliary tract, reporting probable Mirizzi syndrome type IV, and bilioenteric fistula of a site to be determined. Sphincterotomy is performed, sweeping with a lithotripsy cannula and placing a 10×10 cm Amsterdam-type stent (*Figure 2*).

She was sent to our service on 10-27-19, receiving 85% oximetry and anasarca; a chest teleradiography was performed on admission, showing evidence of right pleural effusion of approximately 40%, placing a water seal in the sixth intercostal space with right axillary midline and verifying its placement with a control chest X-ray that ensures the placement of the probe, proposing an exploratory laparotomy on 10-29-19 (*Figure 3*).

A right subcostal incision was made with findings of cholecystobiliary fistulas to the common hepatic and cholecystoduodenal to the first portion (*Figure 4*).



Figure 4: Transoperative findings (drawing authored by JBB).



Figure 5: Hepatojejunal hepatojejunal anastomosis Hepp type (drawing authored by JBB).

When dissecting the plastron, the scleroatrophic gallbladder is opened over the palpated litho; the Amsterdam prosthesis is extracted from the interior of the main biliary tract, together with a 2 cm litho embedded in the common hepatic, resulting in a 2 cm defect involving the common hepatic and partially the left hepatic duct, A 3 mm fistulous orifice from the vesicular remnant to the duodenal knee, it was decided to close the cholecystoduodenal fistula with a 2-0 polypropylene loop and three separate polypropylene stitches on top of the loop, curative biliodigestive bypass from the jejunum to the common hepatic in a single mouth with the left hepatic (Hepp's technique) in "golf club" with separate stitches and 10 ml of fibrin sealant around the anastomosis, ending the jejunum-jejunal Roux-en-Y at 40 cm from the biliodigestive bypass in a transmesocolic way, fixing the jejunal loop to the mesocolon with separate 3-0 polypropylene stitches (Figure 5).

Subsequently, the liver was punctured for drainage of the unsuccessful liver abscess leaving a 1/2 inch Penrose type drainage to the site near the anastomoses, closing the abdominal aponeurosis by planes with polypropylene 1 with continuous suture and five separate stitches reinforcing the suture, skin with Sarnoff 2-0 separate stitches and a new puncture was programmed utilizing interventional radiology guided by USG in his intensive care bed.

She was evaluated by the angiology service on 30-10-2019 for her history of vascular *bypass* of the left pelvis extremity (LPE) due to the presence of an increased volume of both limbs, being more significant on the left side, reported with edema +++, femoral pulse grade I, popliteal and distal not palpable and delayed capillary filling. Doppler USG of both pelvic limbs was performed with adequate venous flow in the superficial and deep system, without observing the obstructive process by this means, an arterial tree without occlusion and triphasic flows to distal vessels in both extremities. Antithrombotic prophylaxis with fraxiparine 1 mg/kg/day is continued.

In intensive care, a new abdominal USG was performed (1-XI-19) and then mobilized to the Radiology Department to perform a simple



Figure 6: Ultrasonography showing a right lobe hepatic abscess. A CT scan depicting the two collections, free fluid in a cavity, and soft tissue edema. Each was punctured and drained with a pigtail catheter and sent for culture, which reported E. coli.



Figure 7: Hepatic abscesses resolved five months later.

and contrasted CT of the abdomen, performing a first puncture that same day and due to the lack of drainage and no decrease in the collection, a second puncture was performed on November 7, 2019, leaving two pigtails with 8 Fr catheters in two of the major collections (*Figure 6*). The oral route was restarted with a liquid diet and porridges, gradually withdrawing total parenteral nutrition and having ceded fever, improved her body fluid redistribution, and hepatic drains expenses decreased to less than 40 cm³ in 24 hours; the patient was discharged home on 20-11-2019 with cephalexin 500 mg c/6 hours, orally for 15 more days and monitoring of the remaining small hepatic collections with monthly USG for three months in the outpatient clinic (*Figure 7*).

DISCUSSION

Drainage disorders of the biliary tree, grouped under the denomination of Mirizzi syndrome (MS), resulting from alterations of the cysticcholecystic junction due to inflammatory processes secondary to gallstones. Anatomical changes may facilitate bile duct injuries during cholecystectomy or involve neighboring organs such as the stomach, duodenum, and colon, including the liver, as in the present case. MS is a rare complication (-1%) of chronic cholecystitis and cholelithiasis. Kehr's first descriptions of this syndrome were made in 1905, and Ruge's in 1908. It was characterized by stone impaction in the cystic duct or the neck of the gallbladder, resulting in mechanical compression or erosion of the common bile duct.¹

MS continues to be a fascinating topic of study because of its challenging and unexpected presentation, which complicates a supposedly simple surgery. The approach to patients with suspected MS should be prudent and sound. Every effort should be made to establish a correct preoperative diagnosis. If found during surgery, every effort should be made to perform an accurate and cautious surgery, identifying the type of Mirizzi and performing the most appropriate treatment for each case.⁷

Clinical or laboratory findings specific to MS include jaundice, abdominal pain, and alterations during serum liver function tests. These symptoms of MS are seen in approximately 80% of cases.² The patient we report here had a significant clinical picture, even with the availability of modern imaging techniques, although in most cases, they still need to be identified preoperatively.

The presence of pyogenic hepatic abscesses secondary to the cholangitis that the patient developed due to the obstruction of the biliary tree due to the migrated liths from a scleroatrophic vesicle and duodenal fistula is noteworthy. Punctual treatment required combined medical, radiological, endoscopic, and surgical procedures for the solution of SM type V and hepatic abscesses, involving a Hepp-type biliodigestive shunt and USG and CT guided punctures for the drainage of the abscesses in addition to antibiotic therapy according to culture reports, to achieve the therapeutic goal.

The different classifications of MS have been based on the findings reported, either by the presence or absence of fistulous erosion between the gallbladder, the main biliary tract, and the digestive tract. Thus Mc Sherry and collaborators⁴ in 1982 classified MS into two types; which, in turn, due to the more profound knowledge of this disease, were reclassified in 1989 by Csendes⁵ into four types, and later in 2008, Beltrán and Csendes added a type V that they subdivided into Va and Vb.⁶ Considering the above and derived from the fact that this disease during its natural history can, according to reports, also affect the liver with atrophy of some lobe,⁷ as well as cause liver abscesses as in our case, we propose the addition of a Vc classification for Mirizzi syndromes associated with liver involvement since no current classification considers the potential risk that this disease causes at intrahepatic level, which makes the treatment and evolution of these patients even more complex.

REFERENCES

- 1. Mirizzi P. Hepatic duct syndrome. J Int Chir. 1948; 8: 731-737.
- 2. Galiano GJM. Mirizzi syndrome, a challenge for the surgeon. Rev Cubana Cir. 2016; 55: 151-163.
- 3. Mc Sherry C, Ferstenberg H, Virhup M. The Mirizzi syndrome: suggested classification and surgical therapy. Surg Gastroenterol. 1982; 1: 19-25.
- 4. McSherry CK, Ferstenberg H, Calhoun WF, Lahman E, Virshup M. The natural history of gallstone disease diagnosed in symptomatic and asymptomatic patients. Ann Surg. 1985; 202: 59-63.
- Lai EC, Lau WY. Mirizzi syndrome: history, present and future development. ANZ J Surg. 2006; 76: 251-257.
- 6. Beltran MA, Csendes A, Cruces KS. The relationship of Mirizzi syndrome and cholecystoenteric fistula: validation of a modified classification. World J Surg. 2008; 32: 2237-2243.
- Zhou J, Xiao R, Yang JR, Wang L, Wang JX, Zhang Q, et al. Mirizzi syndrome complicated by common hepatic duct fistula and left hepatic atrophy: a case report. J Int Med Res. 2018; 46: 4806-4812.
- Redaelli CA, Büchler MW, Schilling MK, Krahenbühl L, Ruchti C, Blumgart LH, et al. High coincidence of Mirizzi syndrome and gallbladder carcinoma. Surgery. 1997; 121: 58-63. doi: 10.1016/s0039-6060(97)90183-5.
- Cui Y, Liu Y, Li Z, Zhao E, Zhang H, Cui N. Appraisal of diagnosis and surgical approach for Mirizzi syndrome. ANZ J Surg. 2012; 82: 708-713. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-2197.2012.06149.x.
- Mischnik A, Kern WV, Thimme R. Pyogenic liver abscess: changes of organisms and consequences for diagnosis and therapy. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 2017; 142: 1067-1074.
- 11. Shi SH, Zhai ZL, Zheng SS. Pyogenic liver abscess of biliary origin: the existing problems and their strategies. Semin Liver Dis. 2018; 38: 270-283.
- 12. Shi SH, Feng XN, Lai MC, Kong HS, Zheng SS. Biliary diseases as main causes of pyogenic liver abscess caused by extended-spectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. Liver Int. 2017; 37: 727-734. doi: 10.1111/liv.13267.
- Huang CJ, Pitt HA, Lipsett PA, Osterman FA Jr, Lillemoe KD, Cameron JL, et al. Pyogenic hepatic abscess.

Changing trends over 42 years. Ann Surg. 1996; 223: 600-607; discussion 607-609.

- 14. Shi SH, Feng XN, Wang ZY, Sun K, Xu JF, Kong HS, et al. Pyogenic liver abscess related to intrahepatic bile duct stones: Difficulties in infectious control and diagnosis of concomitant cholangiocarcinoma. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018; 33: 1092-1099. doi: 10.1111/jgh.14010.
- 15. Rahimian J, Wilson T, Oram V, Holzman RS. Pyogenic liver abscess: recent trends in etiology and mortality. Clin Infect Dis. 2004; 39: 1654-1659.
- 16. Rajak CL, Gupta S, Jain S, Chawla Y, Gulati M, Suri S. Percutaneous treatment of liver abscesses: needle aspiration versus catheter drainage. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1998; 170: 1035-1039.
- 17. Ahmed S, Chia CL, Junnarkar SP, Woon W, Shelat VG. Percutaneous drainage for giant pyogenic liver abscess--is it safe and sufficient? Am J Surg. 2016; 211: 95-101. 18. Tu JF, Huang XF, Hu RY, You HY, Zheng XF, Jiang FZ.
- Comparison of laparoscopic and open surgery for

pyogenic liver abscess with biliary pathology. World J Gastroenterol. 2011; 17: 4339-4343. doi: 10.3748/ wjg.v17.i38.4339.

Ethical considerations and responsibility: the authors declare that they followed the protocols of their work center on the publication of patient data, safeguarding their right to privacy through the confidentiality of their data.

Funding: no financial support was received for this work.

Disclosure: the authors declare no conflict of interest in carrying out the work.

> Correspondence: Javier Benítez Beltrán, MD. E-mail: benitezbj@gmail.com

doi: 10.35366/109130



Intestinal malrotation and cecal volvulus. Case presentation and literature review

Malrotación intestinal y vólvulo de ciego. Presentación de caso y revisión bibliográfica

Oscar Cervantes-Gutiérrez,^{*} Gustavo Cervantes-Millán,[‡] Andrew Sorsby-Vargas,[§] Ana de la Cajiga León,[¶] Jesús Flores-Armenta^{*}

Keywords:

volvulus, cecum, intestinal malrotation, intestinal occlusion.

Palabras clave:

vólvulo, ciego, malrotación intestinal, oclusión intestinal.

Introduction: intestinal malrotation is the result of an alteration during embryonic development. The absence of the ligament of Treitz, together with mesenteric fixation failures, causes a displacement of the small intestine to the right side of the abdomen, accompanied by a cecum located on the left side, remaining attached to the abdominal wall by fibrous peritoneal bands "Ladd's bands", associated with cecal volvulus and intestinal obstruction. Clinical case: we present a 61-year-old female patient who comes to the emergency department presenting acute abdomen secondary to cecal volvulus and intestinal obstruction associated with intestinal malrotation. Conclusions: there should be a high index of suspicion in cases with acute abdomen since most patients spend their adult life asymptomatic or with non-specific gastrointestinal symptoms.

ABSTRACT

RESUMEN

Introducción: la malrotación intestinal es el resultado de una alteración durante el desarrollo embrionario. La ausencia del ligamento de Treitz aunado a las fallas de fijación mesentéricas provoca un desplazamiento del intestino delgado hacia el lado derecho del abdomen, acompañado de un ciego localizado del lado izquierdo, permaneciendo unido a la pared abdominal por bandas peritoneales fibrosas "bandas de Ladd", asociándose a vólvulo cecal y obstrucción intestinal. Caso clínico: presentamos el caso clínico de un paciente femenino de 61 años quien acude a urgencias presentando abdomen agudo secundario a vólvulo cecal y obstrucción intestinal asociado a malrotación intestinal. Conclusiones: se debe tener un alto índice de sospecha en casos con abdomen agudo, puesto que la mayoría de los pacientes cursan su vida adulta asintomáticos o con síntomas gastrointestinales no específicos.

* Ascribed to the General Surgery Service. ‡ General Surgery Resident. § Intern of the General Surgery Service. ¶ Ascribed to the Anesthesiology Service.

Hospital Ángeles Lomas. Mexico City, Mexico.

Received: 09/10/2020 Accepted: 04/20/2021



INTRODUCTION

Intestinal malrotation results from an alteration during embryonic development, frequently occurring between 10 to 12 weeks of gestation. It describes a lack of the normal oblique junction of the mesentery of the small intestine and a lack of the normal junction of the mesentery of the ascending colon. The complications associated with this pathology are potentially catastrophic, so it is essential to have anatomical knowledge, diagnostic criteria, therapeutic knowledge, and the acquisition of a high index of suspicion.^{1,2}

The incidence is approximately 1 in 500 newborns affected and frequently presents within the first month of life in 64 to 80% of patients; however, in some cases, it presents in adulthood. Some patients may be asymptomatic throughout their lives. In contrast, others

How to cite: Cervantes-Gutiérrez O, Cervantes-Millán G, Sorsby-Vargas A, de la Cajiga LA, Flores-Armenta J. Intestinal malrotation and cecal volvulus. Case presentation and literature review. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 259-264. https://dx.doi. org/10.35366/109130

may present with symptoms in adulthood, such as intermittent postprandial biliary vomiting (30%), intermittent postprandial abdominal pain (20%), oral intolerance, chronic diarrhea, and malabsorption. Most symptoms present about six months before diagnosis. In asymptomatic patients who go unnoticed, intestinal malrotation often presents as cecal volvulus or intestinal obstruction. Isolated intestinal malposition is not considered a predisposing factor for volvulus, but the lack of fixation in these structures. Approximately 10 to 15% of cases present acute abdomen secondary to volvulus.^{3,4} These patients present with severe abdominal pain and evidence of intestinal obstruction, hematemesis, hematochezia, or hemodynamic instability.^{5,6}

CASE REPORT

We present the case of a 65-year-old female patient with a history of long-standing rheumatoid arthritis treated with prednisone, postherpetic neuralgia treated with the placement of an analgesic infusion pump for five years, and uncomplicated ventral epigastric hernia of two years of evolution. The patient presented to the Emergency Department with colicky abdominal pain of sudden onset and intensity 8/10 on the visual analog scale (VAS); abdominal distension, obstipation, and vomiting of intestinal characteristics on multiple occasions.

Physical examination revealed an abdomen with generalized distension, absent peristaltic sounds, tympanic on percussion, and pain on superficial palpation, mainly in the right hemiabdomen. Peritoneal irritation was excluded, but a 5×5 cm mass was found in the epigastrium, with non-reducible contents and no evidence of strangulation.

Laboratory studies were requested, which reported 12,000 leukocytes per cubic millimeter, seven-band forms, and serum lactate levels of 2.8 mmol/l. Subsequently, an abdominal tomography with double contrast was performed, finding significant cecal dilatation, the ascending colon and the proximal portion of the transverse colon, and a transition zone towards the distal third located in the left iliac fossa. Likewise, a supraumbilical abdominal wall hernia is found in the midline with scarce fatty tissue and omentum (*Figures 1 to 4*).

We decided to perform a surgical exploration of the abdominal cavity by midlaparotomy, with dissection of the contents and hernial sac at the epigastric level. Subsequently, we accessed the abdominal cavity, where we found cecum volvulus accompanied by distension of up to 12 cm from the cecum to the middle third of the transverse colon. Intestinal malrotation was found from the angle of Treitz secondary to the presence of congenital adhesions to the abdominal wall, called Ladd bands. The right hemicolon was found with an extensive area of necrosis, so a right hemicolectomy was performed with subsequent latero-lateral ileo-transverse mechanical anastomosis with a GIA 60 mm blue cartridge stapler (Figure 5). After thoroughly washing the abdominal cavity, two 19 Fr Blake drains were placed. The abdominal wall was closed in planes, facing the aponeurosis with Prolene 1 suture in the continuous suture.

The postoperative period was uneventful, with antibiotic management with ceftriaxone 1 g intravenous (iv) every 12 hours and metronidazole 500 mg iv every eight hours for six days. The patient was started orally on the second postoperative day and was discharged home on the sixth day. Outpatient evolution was satisfactory, with no eventualities.

DISCUSSION

In 1936, William Edwards Ladd described intestinal malrotation as a congenital anomaly in the period of intestinal rotation and fixation during fetal development. Alterations in the normal oblique junction of the mesentery of the small intestine and the normal junction of the mesentery of the ascending colon characterize this anomaly. The intestinal embryological development can suffer alterations in any of its phases and, in the same way, they can be grouped according to the corresponding developmental stage.^{2,7}



Figure 1: Coronal reconstruction with a maximum intensity of double-contrast abdominal tomography projection showing the mesenteric vasculature of circular trajectory, known as whirlpool sign and dilatation of the cecum.



Figure 2: Axial slices of double-contrast abdominal CT scan at the infraumbilical level, showing completely collapsed colon loops with leftward displacement and small bowel to the right.

The herniation phase, better known as the first phase, occurs during the first ten weeks of gestation and is characterized by intestinal protrusion through the yolk sac. When failure of the first phase occurs, an omphalocele may develop.^{1,7}

The second phase, the abdominal return phase, occurs during the 10th and 11th weeks.

The intestine undergoes a retraction of the umbilical cord and returns to the abdomen, with the duodenojejunal loop being the first to return to the abdominal cavity. Subsequently, it rotates counterclockwise 270 degrees about the axis of the superior mesenteric artery. During this phase, three



Figure 3: Coronal reconstruction of double contrast abdominal tomography showing cecum in the right upper quadrant and projected transition zone in the center at the site of the mesenteric gyrus. The stomach is seen in the usual location.



Figure 4: Axial double-contrast abdominal CT scan at the level of the umbilical scar. Significant distension of the cecum and material in the left flank are observed.



Figure 5: Right and transverse colon with significant dilatation secondary to cecum volvulus.

alterations are described: non-rotation. incomplete rotation, and reverse rotation, non-rotation being the more frequent.^{1,7} In intestinal non-rotation, a duodenum descending towards the right side of the superior mesenteric artery is described, resulting in a small intestine displaced towards the right hemiabdomen and a colon located in the left hemiabdomen. The absence of the development of the ligament of Treitz causes the cecum to remain in the left hemiabdomen. Instead, it remains attached to the right abdominal wall by peritoneal fibrous bands, the bands of Ladd. This type causes the small bowel to be highly mobile, increasing the risk of developing volvulus. These bands usually encircle the duodenum, causing symptoms of intermittent intestinal obstruction.^{1,3,7} In incomplete rotation or malrotation. alterations are described as intestinal obstruction by Ladd's bands or volvulus caused by a duodenal rotation of only 180 degrees and a colonic-cecal loop that lacks 180 degrees of its regular rotation.^{1,3}

Third-stage failure, known as the fixation stage, occurs from week 12 until birth. It may result in a mobile cecum, subhepatic cecum, or retrocecal appendix. In other cases, mesenteric intestinal fixation failure may occur, which leads to an increased risk of developing volvulus.¹

Intestinal malrotation should be suspected in adult patients presenting with the previously mentioned clinical picture or similarly abnormal findings in imaging studies performed for other reasons. The upper gastrointestinal series is considered the gold standard study for pediatric and adult patients, thanks to its ability to visualize the normal course of the duodenum, where the contrast medium is detected in its second portion or the classic corkscrew appearance in the first loops of the jejunum.⁸ Nowadays, the use of computed axial tomography for diagnosis has increased. Nevertheless, patients presenting with acute abdomen secondary to intestinal malrotation with evidence of intestinal ischemia should undergo emergency laparotomy without needing prior imaging studies.⁸

Computed axial tomography proves to be a useful alternative diagnostic tool; it can identify rotation patterns associated with particular complications.⁹ Similarly, the superior mesenteric artery can be inverted with the superior mesenteric vein positioned to the left or rotated around the artery. However, in more recent series, it has come to demonstrate the same sensitivity and specificity as the upper gastrointestinal series.¹⁰

Abdominal ultrasonography is not very useful for diagnosis since its negative result does not exclude the presence of intestinal malrotation. Likewise, in some cases, it is possible to reach the diagnosis incidentally for other reasons.¹¹

Therapeutics in patients with intestinal malrotation depend on the initial presentation. In asymptomatic cases, without evidence of volvulus, intestinal ischemia, or with non-life threatening gastrointestinal manifestations, a Ladd procedure can be performed electively. The Ladd procedure can be performed open or laparoscopically due to significant differences in complication rates, need for reoperation, or persistence of symptoms.⁶

In 1936, William Edwards Ladd described a procedure that is still the therapeutic technique used today. It is described as a procedure designed to treat acute problems and, at the same time,

reduce the risk of developing volvulus later on. The Ladd procedure consists of five steps: identification and counterclockwise detorsion of the volvulus, division of the Ladd bands, division of the inter-mesenteric bands (fibrous bands located between the non-cecal bowel loops and the duodenum), and finally, appendectomy. Once all five steps have been performed, the bowel is placed in its normal anatomic position. Historically a laparotomy approach was preferred. Today the benefits of performing the procedure laparoscopically have been studied and proven. It is possible to be confronted with a case in which there is a suspicion of the viability of the intestinal loops, so it is recommended to perform an exploration within 24 to 48 hours.¹²

Emergency laparotomy is required in case of acute abdomen secondary to intestinal volvulus and ischemia. It is worth mentioning that adequate volume resuscitation is needed during the preoperative period, a nasogastric tube should be placed, and a broad-spectrum antibiotic should be started, which was performed in the case presented. Preoperative measures should not delay the start of surgery and should be carried out while the patient is transferred to the operating room. Even so, it is more common for patients undergoing laparotomy to have an increased risk of developing adhesions and other complications. In the above case, the patient evolved satisfactorily, with no complications developing. In most cases, such as the one mentioned, the diagnosis is made in the transoperative period since they present with hemodynamic instability, and therefore their surgical management is immediate.

CONCLUSIONS

Malrotation is a pathology that can go unnoticed since most patients are asymptomatic; however, others present variable gastrointestinal alterations before the diagnosis can be approached. Acute abdominal presentation requires emergency surgical intervention. The procedure of choice is the Ladd procedure, characterized by detorsion of the volvulus, division of the intermesenteric bands, appendectomy, and anatomical bowel repositioning.

Considering the potentially catastrophic outcome, it is imperative to have a high index of suspicion in patients with the characteristics mentioned above to employ the best therapy in a timely and appropriate manner.

REFERENCES

- 1. Torres AM, Ziegler MM. Malrotation of the intestine. World J Surg. 1993; 17: 326-331.
- 2. Ladd WE. Surgical diseases of the alimentary tract in infants. N Engl J Med. 1936; 215: 705-708.
- 3. Haak BW, Bodewitz ST, Kuijper CF, de Widt-Levert LM. Intestinal malrotation and volvulus in adult life. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2014; 5: 259-261.
- 4. Yanez R, Spitz L. Intestinal malrotation presenting outside the neonatal period. Arch Dis Child. 1986; 61: 682-685.
- Devlin HB, Williams RS, Pierce JW. Presentation of midgut malrotation in adults. Br Med J. 1968; 1: 803-807.
- Fung AT, Konkin DE, Kanji ZS. Malrotation with midgut volvulus in an adult: a case report and review of the literature. J Surg Case Rep. 2017; 2017: rjx081.
- Hernando-Almudí E, Cerdán-Pascual R, Vallejo-Bernad C, Martín-Cuartero J, Sánchez-Rubio M, Casamayor-Franco M. Intestinal malrotation in adult associated with intestinal volvulus. Surgery and Surgeons. 2017; 85: 424-427.
- Kotobi H, Tan V, Lefevre J, Duramé F, Audry G, Parc Y. Total midgut volvulus in adults with intestinal malrotation. Report of eleven patients. J Visc Surg. 2017; 154: 175-183.
- 9. Yang B, Chen WH, Zhang XF, Luo ZR. Adult midgut malrotation: multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT) findings of 14 cases. Jpn J Radiol. 2013; 31: 328-335.
- Durkin ET, Lund DP, Shaaban AF, Schurr MJ, Weber SM. Age-related differences in diagnosis and morbidity of intestinal malrotation. J Am Coll Surg. 2008; 206: 658-663.
- Ashley LM, Allen S, Teele RL. A normal sonogram does not exclude malrotation. Pediatr Radiol. 2001; 31: 354-356.
- Frasier LL, Leverson G, Gosain A, Greenberg J. Laparoscopic versus open Ladd's procedure for intestinal malrotation in adults. Surg Endosc. 2015; 29: 1598-1604.

Ethical considerations and responsibility: the authors declare that they followed the protocols

of their work center on the publication of patient data, safeguarding their right to privacy through the confidentiality of their data.

Funding: no financial support was received for this work.

Disclosure: the authors declare that there is no conflict of interest in carrying out the work.

Correspondence: Oscar Cervantes-Gutiérrez E-mail: ocervan@hotmail.com

www.medigraphic.org.mx



Pseudopapillary solid tumor of the pancreas or "Frantz tumor". Presentation of two clinical cases

Tumor sólido pseudopapilar de páncreas o "tumor de Frantz". Presentación de dos casos clínicos

René Alberto Perea-Cosío,^{*} Adolfo Norberto-Rodríguez,[‡] Luis M Menchaca-Alanís,[§] Víctor Sarmiento-Huizar,[¶] Miguel Ángel Mendoza-García,[¶] Pedro Chapa,[¶] Nicolás Enrique Morales-Sánchez[¶]

Keywords:

Frantz tumor, pseudopapillary pancreatic tumor, metastasis, spleen, splenectomy, partial pancreatectomy.

Palabras clave:

tumor de Frantz, tumor pseudopapilar de páncreas, metástasis, bazo, esplenectomía, pancreatectomía parcial.

* General Surgery and Gastro Surgery Service of the General Hospital of Matamoros and International Medical Center Hospital. Mexico. [‡] Oncosurgery Service of the International Medical Center Hospital. Mexico. § Pathology Service of the International Medical Center Hospital. Mexico. Resident of the Surgerv Service of the General Hospital of Matamoros "Dr. Alfredo Pumarejo Lafaurie". México.

Received: 11/23/2021 Accepted: 01/18/2022



ABSTRACT

Introduction: pseudopapillary solid tumor of the pancreas, or "Frantz's tumor", was first described in 1959 and is one of the least frequent neoplasms representing 1-2% of pancreatic tumors. It predominates in young female patients. Most of the diagnoses are incidental by imaging tests; these tumors cause slight symptomatology; however, abdominal pain in the epigastrium, nausea, vomiting, early satiety, abdominal distension, weight loss, and jaundice predominate. Computed axial tomography is the study of choice. Histological study confirms the diagnosis. The main site of metastasis occurs in the liver and spleen. Treatment in all cases is surgical. When resection is complete, the prognosis is excellent, with a five-year survival of 95%. Two clinical cases are presented in female patients aged 16 and 25, evaluated in consultation for clinical symptoms characterized by non-specific abdominal pain, gastric fullness, and vomiting. The complementary studies of both cases utilizing simple and contrasted computerized tomography scans of the entire abdomen and pelvis concluded that in the first case, a tumor depended on the body and tail of the pancreas; in the second case, a mass was dependent on the splenic hilum. In both cases, surgical management performed distal in bloc pancreatectomy and splenectomy, respectively. The pathology study confirmed the diagnosis in both cases.

RESUMEN

Introducción: el tumor sólido pseudopapilar de páncreas o "tumor de Frantz" fue descrito por primera vez en 1959, es una de las neoplasias menos frecuentes y representa 1 a 2% de los tumores pancreáticos; predomina en pacientes jóvenes del sexo femenino. La mayoría de los diagnósticos son incidentales por pruebas de imagen, estos tumores causan poca sintomatología; sin embargo, predominan el dolor abdominal en epigastrio, náuseas, vómito, saciedad precoz, distensión abdominal, pérdida de peso e ictericia. La tomografía axial computarizada es el estudio de elección. El estudio histológico confirma el diagnóstico. El principal sitio de metástasis ocurre en hígado y bazo. El tratamiento en todos los casos es quirúrgico. Cuando la resección es completa el pronóstico es excelente con una supervivencia de 95% a cinco años. Se presentan dos casos clínicos en pacientes del sexo femenino de 16 y 25 años, respectivamente, evaluadas en consulta debido a un cuadro clínico caracterizado por dolor abdominal inespecífico, plenitud gástrica y vómitos. Los estudios complementarios de ambos casos mediante tomografía axial computarizada simple y contrastada de abdomen total y pelvis concluyeron, en el primer caso, tumoración dependiente de cuerpo y cola de páncreas, en el segundo, masa dependiente del hilio esplénico. Se efectuó manejo quirúrgico en ambos casos, al realizar pancreatectomía distal en bloque y esplenectomía, respectivamente. El estudio de patología confirmó el diagnóstico de ambos.

INTRODUCTION MEDIC applic pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas (SPT) is

Frantz tumor was first mentioned in 1959 by Virginia Kneeland Frantz.¹⁻³ Solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas (SPT) is one of the least frequent neoplasms, accounting for 0.2 to 2% of all pancreatic tumors and 1-2% of exocrine tumors. The tumor was

How to cite: Perea-Cosío RA, Norberto-Rodríguez A, Menchaca-Alanís LM, Sarmiento-Huizar V, Mendoza-García MÁ, Chapa P, et al. Pseudopapillary solid tumor of the pancreas or "Frantz tumor". Presentation of two clinical cases. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 265-270. https://dx.doi.org/10.35366/109131

given several names for its macroscopic and microscopic features until it was defined as a "solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas" by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a single tumor in 1996.^{1,2,4,5}

Most patients with solid pseudopapillary tumors of the pancreas are female (female: male ratio of 10:1), in the second or third decade of life with an average age of 22 years; about 20-25% are seen in pediatric ages, and only 6% of cases occur in patients older than 50 years.^{1-4,6}

CLINICAL CASE 1

The first case corresponds to a female patient, 16 years old, with no familial or personal pathological history of relevance to the current condition. She presented with clinical symptoms of two months of evolution, characterized by intermittent episodes of abdominal pain in the epigastrium of variable intensity, with irradiation to the flank and lumbosacral fossa on the left side, without other added symptomatology. Physical examination showed abdominal distention, mild pain in the epigastrium, and no palpable masses.

Computed axial tomography (CT) of the upper abdomen was performed with single and double contrast in axial sections, showing a pancreas with a severe increase in size in body and tail secondary to a large lesion of regular edges, with significant mass effect on retroperitoneal structures, isodense



Figure 1: Computerized tomography scan with double contrast.



Figure 2: Solid pancreatic tail tumor.

to the parenchyma, with hypodense areas not reinforced by intravenous contrast, without calcifications or cystic areas, measuring $102 \times 107 \times 115$ mm (*Figure* 1), head and uncinate process without alterations, the rest of the study without alterations.

Laboratory studies (blood biometry, liver function tests, amylase, lipase, prothrombin time (PT), partial thromboplastin time (PTT), international normalized ratio (INR), serum electrolytes, general urine test) were within normal parameters. An approach protocol was initiated with suspicion of neuroblastoma as the first diagnostic possibility; total and fractionated catecholamines were requested in 24-hour urine, which was within normal parameters.

A laparotomy is scheduled, and the following findings are reported: Chevron incision approach, the peritoneal cavity is opened, protocol exploration is performed, Balfour type automatic retractor is placed, and the gastrocolic space is opened in order to enter the omentum transcavity. A tumor dependent on the tail of the pancreas is identified, and resection of the same is performed to complete the removal of the tumor and ligate the neoformation vessels with a harmonic scalpel. We apply a 2-0 poliglecaprone 25 running suture in the distal segment of the pancreas, with total



Figure 3: Pseudo papillae covered by layers of epithelial cells.

bleeding of approximately 200 cm³, with a surgical time of 100 minutes.

He tolerated the oral route for a threeday hospital stay with favorable evolution, with complete laboratory studies where only grade 2 normocytic normochromic anemia stands out. She was discharged four days later thanks to antibiotic treatment with ceftriaxone 1 g IV every 12 hours for seven days, and analgesic management with parecoxib 40 mg IV, paracetamol 1 g IV every eight hours and tramadol 50 mg IV for five days, with an external appointment with the result of pathology study.

Pathology study reports, at the macroscopic examination, a solid $13 \times 11.5 \times 8$ cm tumor (*Figure 2*); and, at the microscopic examination, the presence of pseudo papillae covered by several layers of epithelial cells (*Figure 3*). Intact capsule, not involved by neoplasia. Monthly follow-up with laboratory and imaging controls, without alterations.

CLINICAL CASE 2

The second case was that of a 25-year-old female patient with no significant familial or personal pathological history, consulted for a three-month history of postprandial fullness, vomiting of gastric contents without significant weight loss, referred abdominal pain in the epigastrium and left hypochondrium, mild to moderate urgency, intensity without irradiation, exacerbated by any food intake.

Physical examination revealed mild abdominal distension, preserved peristalsis with pain on mid and deep palpation in the epigastrium and left hypochondrium with a palpable mass in the same area, without adenomegaly or peritoneal irritation.

Laboratory and imaging paraclinical studies were performed, and blood laboratories (blood cytology, blood chemistry, liver function tests, PT, PTT, serum electrolytes, amylase, lipase) were found without alterations, as well as the chest X-ray; However, CT of the upper, lower abdomen and pelvic simple and with biphasic contrast not contrasted with diagnostic approach was requested, and as the only finding it was reported "spleen of normal size; however, there is a mass with 40 Hounsfield units with calcifications in the wall, well delimited, located in the splenic hilum measuring approximately 8.2 cm by 6.6 cm" (*Figure 4*). It was decided to perform surgery.

With the Chevron approach, the abdominal cavity is opened, which begins with exploratory



Figure 4: Tumor with calcifications in the wall, located in the splenic hilum.

laparotomy protocol focused on the gastrocolic space and enters the transcavity of the omentum, where a tumor of the tail of the pancreas is found extending to the splenic hilum and respecting the retroperitoneum, which could be resected with the tail of the pancreas together with the spleen, by traction of the stomach to expose the gastrosplenic

ligament in order to find the omentum transcavity directly. Vessels were cut and ligated in the gastrosplenic ligament to give us good visualization of the splenic artery. Peritoneum was cut over the spleen to facilitate ligation of the splenic artery and vein with polyglactin 910 2-0 thread without leaving any drainage. The bleeding was of 300 cm³ approximately, and there was no need for blood transfusions; the surgical time was 120 min.

In the postoperative evolution, the patient tended to improve. After four days of fasting, due to amylase elevation secondary to manipulation and suture of the pancreas, he presented tolerance to the oral route. She was discharged with normal amylase levels, and an appointment was scheduled after one month to continue clinical surveillance and to know his histopathological results.

The diagnostic histopathologic report was conclusive and reported a $9.1 \times 7.6 \times 7.2$ cm, smooth external surface, gray with a visible vascular network and increased consistency with cystic appearance (*Figure 5*); histological image of solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas (papillary cystic tumor-Frantz tumor) (*Figure 6*), located in the tail of the pancreas without observing tumor activity in the outer



Figure 5: Cystic tumor and spleen.



Figure 6: Pseudo papillae and epithelial cells.

face of the capsule of the neoplastic lesion, spleen with sinusoidal congestion.

DISCUSSION

Frantz tumor is an enigmatic tumor regarding its cellular origin and genotype. Its predominance in young female patients indicates the possibility of a hormonal influence in its development, only progesterone receptors have been demonstrated in these tumors, and some reports suggest the presence of beta forms of estrogen receptors. Patients infected with the hepatitis B virus have been reported, which can induce overexpression of β -catenin in tumor cells, suggesting this virus's participation in the pathogenesis of this tumor.^{4,7,8}

Solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas is genetically characterized by the activation of β -catenin and its white cells. Alterations of the colon adenomatous polyposis colon polyposis (APC) β -catenin and cyclin-D1 gene pathways, with activating mutations in exon 3 of the β -catenin gene, leading to nuclear accumulation and positive staining for β -catenin, are shown in 95% of cases in most of these tumors. Unlike ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas, the Frantz tumor is not associated with alterations in the K-ras, p53, or DPC4 genes.⁴

Most Frantz tumor diagnoses are made incidentally as a finding within imaging studies performed for other reasons. These tumors cause slight symptomatology until they reach significant dimensions; they sometimes present with abdominal pain, bloating, early satiety, anorexia, nausea, weight loss, pancreatitis, and jaundice. Rare cases of intra-abdominal hemorrhage due to tumor rupture have been reported. The main site of metastasis occurs in the liver and spleen.^{3,4,9} Extra pancreatic tumors are rare, and sometimes no ectopic pancreatic tissue is demonstrated.⁴

Computed tomography is the study of choice for the detection of pancreatic tumors; in Frantz's tumor, its most relevant tomographic features are an isolated location frequently in the head of the pancreas, a mixed location more frequently in the body and tail of the pancreas, predominantly solid content, mostly without calcifications, predominant size of 5-10 cm and mainly rounded shape with defined borders.^{10,11}

Histologically they are encapsulated lesions with solid and cystic areas. The pseudopapillary appearance is found around a fibrovascular stalk. Polygonal tumor cells form solid areas or cluster in pseudo rosettes. The stroma may be myxoid or hyaline but is often inconspicuous. The foamy macrophages are periodic acid Schiff (PAS) positive.^{7,10,11} These tumors are of low-grade malignancy. Tumor resection is recommended in all patients.^{1,2,4,7,9,12} Oncologic resection with negative surgical margins should be performed to achieve local disease control, prevent recurrence and metastases, relieve symptoms, and ensure an excellent long-term prognosis.⁴

Eighty-five percent of patients present local disease at diagnosis, and 15% present disseminated disease. The long-term prognosis is excellent when resection is complete, with a five-year survival of 95%. Follow-up with postoperative imaging is recommended every six months for two years and then annually for life.^{4,10}

Similar results are maintained in relation to what has been reviewed and in the experience of the reported cases, finding only gastrointestinal symptoms related to the clinic. As the main diagnostic aid, the tendency of CT as a diagnostic method continues; however, the incidental transoperative finding is a variable that, in our experience, should be considered.

Surgical treatment is the treatment of choice for a complete resolution of the pathology.

CONCLUSION

Frantz tumor is an infrequent neoplasm, usually incidentally diagnosed and with a low degree of malignancy. It was found to have a higher incidence in females between 15 and 30 with no identified history. With clinical and laboratory data, it is complicated to diagnose, leaving a CT scan as the primary imaging method of choice for identifying these pancreatic tumors.

The definitive treatment is complete surgical resection of the pancreatic tumor, which provides an excellent long-term prognosis, even without reporting treatment-related complications.

REFERENCES

- Torres-Criollo LM, González-León FM, Romero-Sacoto LA, Romero Galabay IM, Ramírez-Coronel A, Mancheno-Benalcazar LJ. Franz's tumor. A case report. Venezuelan Archives of Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 2020; 39: 701-708.
- Álvarez-Cuenllas B, Vaquero LM, Pisabarros C, Rodríguez L, Aparicio M, Rueda R, et al. Frantz tumor or solid pseudopapillary neoplasm of the pancreas. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015; 38: 468-470.
- Vollmer CM Jr, Dixon E, Grant DR. Management of a solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas with liver metastases. HPB (Oxford). 2003; 5: 264-267.
- Blanco FE, Zamora SO. Solid-pseudopapillary neoplasia of the pancreas as an enigmatic entity. Rev Cubana Cir. 2015; 54. Available at: http://scielo. sld.cu/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0034-74932015000300011&lng=es
- Méndez-Vivas WR, Vázquez-Pelcastre R, Escalante-San Román A, Pereyra-Balmes MC. Frantz-Gruber tumor. Case report and review of the literature. Evid Med Invest Health. 2014; 7: 143-146.
- 6. Cerdán PR, Barranco DJ, Cantín BS, Bernal JJ, Serrablo RA, Esarte MJM. Frantz tumor: presentation of a case. Rev Chil Cir. 2007; 59: 145-149.
- Lanke G, Ali FS, Lee JH. Clinical update on the management of pseudopapillary tumor of pancreas. World J Gastrointest Endosc. 2018; 10: 145-155.
- Zalatnai A, Kis-Orha V. Solid-pseudopapillary neoplasms of the pancreas is still an enigma: a clinicopathological review. Pathol Oncol Res. 2020; 26: 641-649.
- Hajjar R, Plasse M, Vandenbroucke-Menu F, Schwenter F, Sebajang H. Giant splenic cyst and solid pseudopapillary tumour of the pancreas managed with distal pancreatectomy and splenectomy. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2020; 102: e1-e3.
- Haro Erazo CX, Salinas Mancheno FA. Frantz tumor, presentation of a clinical case. Ciencia Digital. 2019; 3: 488-496.

- Cerron-Vela CR, Moreno Navarro P, Araujo-Banchon WJ. Tomographic features of pseudopapillary solid tumor of the pancreas (Frantz tumor). Rev Fac Cien Med Univ Nac Cordoba. 2020; 77: 33-38.
- Choi SH, Kim SM, Oh JT, Park JY, Seo JM, Lee SK. Solid pseudopapillary tumor of the pancreas: a multicenter study of 23 pediatric cases. J Pediatr Surg. 2006; 41: 1992-1995.

Ethical considerations and responsibility: the authors declare that they followed the protocols

of their work center on the publication of patient data, safeguarding their right to privacy through the confidentiality of their data.

Funding: no financial support was received for this work.

Disclosure: the authors declare that there is no conflict of interest in carrying out the work.

Correspondence: René Alberto Perea-Cosío, MD. E-mail: dr.perea@unidad-gastrocirugia.com.mx

www.medigraphic.org.mx

doi: 10.35366/109132



Dr. Ricardo Suárez Gamboa, innovative surgeon and promoter of uterine cancer management in the 19th century

Dr. Ricardo Suárez Gamboa, cirujano innovador y promotor del manejo del cáncer uterino en el siglo XIX

Carlos Agustín Rodríguez-Paz,* Rolando Neri-Vela[‡]

Keywords:

surgery, history, cervical, wire, suture, military.

Palabras clave:

cirugía, historia, cervicouterino, alambre, sutura, militar. ABSTRACT

Dr. Ricardo Suárez Gamboa (1872-1915) was a surgeon of the late 19th century who studied medicine at the then National School of Medicine in Porfirio's Mexico; he studied in France with Pozzi and Routier. Upon his return, he edited the book *Monografias de clínica quirírgica* in 1899, where he suggested using a four-grade classification of cervical cancer. He was the first promoter of the fight against this disease. He was a member of the National Academy of Medicine, publishing articles supporting metal sutures, asepsis, and approaches with radical lymphatic repair and emptying in cancer cases. He was among the first to use Walter Reed's theories to control yellow fever in the battle of Ebony, where he died. RESUMEN

El Dr. Ricardo Suárez Gamboa (1872-1915) fue un cirujano de finales del siglo XIX que estudió medicina en la entonces Escuela Nacional de Medicina en el México porfirista; estudió en Francia al lado de Pozzi y Routier. A su regreso editó el libro Monografías de clínica quirúrgica en 1899, donde sugirió el uso de una clasificación en cuatro grados del cáncer cervicouterino, y fue el primer promotor en el mundo de la lucha contra este mal. Fue miembro de la Academia Nacional de Medicina, publicando artículos que apoyaban la sutura de metal, la asepsia y los abordajes con reparación y vaciamiento linfático radicales en los casos de cáncer. Fue de los primeros en usar las teorías de Walter Reed para el control de la fiebre amarilla en la batalla de El Ébano, donde murió.

* Surgery Service, Hospital General de Zona No. 50, IMSS. Department of Surgery, School of Medicine, Universidad Cuauhtémoc. San Luis Potosi, Mexico. ‡ Naval Medical School. Commission of Historical Studies of the Military Medical

Received: 06/15/2021 Accepted: 11/19/2022

School, Mexico.

INTRODUCTION

A ccording to Jürgen Thorwald, the 19th century was called the era of surgeons due to the extraordinary achievements in this branch of medicine, mainly thanks to the beginning of anesthesiology, as well as asepsis and antisepsis;¹ in Mexico, thanks to the contributions of the anatomists from the Royal School of Surgery of Mexico, as well as to the knowledge of Spanish, German and French surgery, a first generation of surgeons was forged in the country that responded to the current needs.^{2,3} The next generation, after the war against the United States in 1847, modified and incorporated the new knowledge and began to generate ideas and proposals independent of the European continent.⁴ One of these physicians who realized the phenomena that afflicted a large part of the population, especially women, was Dr. Ricardo Suarez Gamboa, who, thanks to his surgical mentors, developed not only a surgical skill but a facility and sensitivity in the area of gynecology, in which he would be part of the founders of that specialty, with an unfortunate but heroic premature death.

We aim to highlight the surgical and editorial achievements of this late 19th and early 20th-

How to cite: Rodríguez-Paz CA, Neri-Vela R. Dr. Ricardo Suárez Gamboa, innovative surgeon and promoter of uterine cancer management in the 19th century. Cir Gen. 2021; 43 (4): 271-276. https://dx.doi.org/10.35366/109132

century physician who also participated in the Mexican Revolution.

PREPARATION AND PROFESSIONAL LIFE

He was a military doctor of the XIX century born in 1872 and was wounded in the battle of El Ébano, in San Luis Potosí, in 1915.⁵ He entered the National School of Medicine in 1886 (*Figure 1*). When he finished, he traveled to Europe to perfect his studies with Dr. Samuel J. de Pozzi (1846-1918), from whom he inherited his taste for gynecology, and with Dr. Routier at Necker Hospital.⁶ Upon returning to his homeland, he competed for and won the Chair of Operative Medicine at the National School of Medicine in Mexico.⁷

On April 30, 1900, he participated in a competitive examination for a professor of medicine, summoned by the Ministry of Public Instruction, competing, among others, with Aureliano Urrutia (1872-1975), Rafael Norma, and Julián Villarreal (1869-1934), the president of the jury being Dr. Francisco de P. Chacón (1840-1904).⁸ According to his file



Figure 1: Dr. Ricardo Suárez Gamboa. Existing photo in his monograph. Taken from: Suárez-Gamboa R, p. 25.¹²

from the then National School of Medicine, he entered, supported by Dr. Francisco P. Chacón (mentor during all his undergraduate studies) to the National Academy of Medicine, and it is interesting that he mentions suffering from asthma in his documents.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO GYNECOLOGY

Dr. Suarez Gamboa was one of the first to practice hysterectomy in our country;⁹ and according to Dr. Uribe-Elias, he is one of the surgeons who gave the transition between the old management of gynecology of the nineteenth century to that of the twentieth century.¹⁰ In his book, he describes the history of how this procedure evolved in Europe from the "amputation" of the uterus that was resected when it presented a type IV prolapse, with the clamping of the entire block above the fundus of the uterus and suturing, assigning this technique to Francois Rousset (1525-1598), also attempted by other means by Halscher, Bernhard Rudolf Konrad von Langenbeck (1810-1887), Van Heer and Sauter de Constance (French surgeon at the beginning of the 19th century).¹¹ Of the latter surgeon, Suarez Gamboa describes (without giving the date) that he attempted dissection of the uterus with a three-stage resection with dissection of the lateral structures, clamping of the adnexa, and dissection of the so-called vaginal insertion, which he describes as being more complex. Suarez Gamboa gives the priority of successful resection of the uterus to Oslander and Urisberg by formalizing the socalled "amputation of the womb", but with few successes between 1828 and 1851, in which an abdominal hysterectomy with ligation was performed, but we do not find mention of the suture of the vaginal vault or the suture of the parametric, an intravaginal sponge was placed; Our author describes how surgeons in that era found bleeding from the abdominal cavity at autopsy; he comments that the breaking point was with Keimball in 1855, Koeberlé in 1863 and of course with Pean in 1869, who treated the pedicle with metallic ligature instead of ligature with threads. In Mexico, he laments the obscure and scarce medical articles to support it; he only mentions as national antecedents

his teachers Rafael Lavista (he introduced hysterectomy on March 22, 1878, based on Dr. Pean), Francisco P. Chacón and Nicolás San Juan (first vaginal hysterectomy in our country on February 13, 1873).¹²

PUBLISHED WORKS

Suárez Gamboa published in the Gaceta Médica de México about several topics: 1) Tropical medicine, in which he commented on the control of the military doctors headed by Dr. Walter Reed (1851-1902) in Havana to control yellow fever (he asked for a commission to see how this control was done in that Cuban city so that it could be implemented in Veracruz);¹³ 15 years later he would implement the epidemiological and logistical measures of control in the battle of El Ébano.⁵ 2) History of algology, making a historical compilation of the methods used from Pliny to the 19th century.^{14,15} 3) General surgery, an example of this topic, is an interesting work in which he reaffirms the use of metal sutures (silver and aluminum bronze), emphasizing its low risk of infection (he comments that in the market at that time, there was only metal wire, Florentine horsehair [made from the sericogenous glands of the silkworm, monofilament], braided silk and *catgut*);⁶ in another paper he describes preoperative psychiatric states, emphasizing that not only infections are adverse sequelae of an operative act, which, although he discusses them within the preoperative preparation in each case in his book on hysterectomy, he emphasizes in this article on such perioperative problem, calling it psycho-neurosis-surgical.¹⁶ His last surgical article described a technique for approaching and closing the thorax in the face of a drained pleural abscess, with flap closure and rib repair when facing and aligning these processes with wire.¹⁷

Suárez Gamboa was one of the young surgeons who modernized gynecology and obstetrics practice at the end of the Porfiriato period; in 1899, he published a study on hysterectomy,¹² incorporating steel as a suture to the Mexican surgical arsenal.¹⁰ In that writing, his teacher Joaquin Vertiz made the introduction, noting that it was an important work by *"how little Mexican doctors do to*



Figure 2: Pathological specimen described as fibrosarcoma of the uterus. Taken from: Suárez-Gamboa R, p. 77.¹²

transmit their experience, removing selfishness, being so little the public that reads and so grown in the proportion that criticizes and hurts"; another introduction was written by Dr. Francisco de P. Chacon who qualifies it as original work, which gives contributions to the world surgery regarding uterine surgery. The same author, in his preamble, describes that he was helped by surgeons Numa Torrea, Arcadio T. Ojeda, Carlos Manuel García, Manuel M. Macias (from Veracruz), German Díaz Lombardo, Antonio A. Loaeza, Ricardo Tapia Fernández, Francisco Carral, Marcos E. Juarez, Jesus Valdes Sanchez, Calixto Vargas, Manuel Ortiz, Alfonso Montenegro, Felipe Ruiz Esparza and Reinaldo Deffis (surgeons of whom we do not know more data, but it would be interesting to explore their achievements around our character). Mr. Alberto Fernández made illustrations of oncological pieces.¹⁸ The work Monografías de clínica quirúrgica even reached Merida, Oaxaca and Monterrey, where it was preserved in their respective medical school libraries.¹⁹ When reviewing the book and the illustrations, one can appreciate the perfection of the technique when resecting the uterus with fibrosarcomas (Figure 2), cervical



Figure 3: Pathological specimen described as cervical and parenchymal cancer. *Taken from: Suárez-Gamboa R, p. 121.*¹²

and parenchymal cancer (*Figure 3*), cervical and medullary cancer (*Figure 4*), in general physically gathered in his anatomopathological museum, located in the study of his private home (*Figure 5*).

From page 106 onwards of his book, he described how the changes of uterine cancer are "essentially limited to the uterine cervix, preferably starting from the paracervical mucosa, from there it passes to the perimetric tissue, bladder, rectum and connective tissue of the pelvis", a masterful description of an extensive invasion of the pelvis. The thought of Suárez Gamboa that carcinoma is a secondary process to a chronic cellular process (which could not be proved in that era), but that, at the end of the 19th century, it was located by a parasitic origin with greater frequency in women of 40 years of age according to Gusserow, is another of his contributions.²⁰ He emphasizes, at several points in his book, the probability that the uterus, in the presence of cancer, is free to be resected from the bladder and rectum, criteria for which he does not proceed to perform a hysterectomy. In his thesis, Hernández Cornejo emphasizes how Suárez Gamboa is the first Mexican surgeon

to establish defined behaviors in the face of cervical cancer,²¹ establishing a classification, which covers pages 128 to 129 (*Table 1*), which places him very close to evidence-based medicine, as well as perhaps being the first surgeon in the world to make such a proposal, as stated by Conrado Zuckermann.²²

In the same monograph, he describes that he operated in the then-private hospitals



Figure 4: Pathologic specimen described as medullary uterine cancer. Taken from: Suárez-Gamboa R, p. 137.¹²



Figure 5: Personal anatomopathological museum, existing in Dr. Suárez Gamboa's house at the time. Taken from: Suárez-Gamboa R, p. 16.¹²

for managing cervical cancer in 1899.				
Category	Anatomical criteria	Technique	Remarks	
1ª	Limited to the neck	Supravaginal amputation	He does not advocate the transvaginal resection method	
2ª	Destruction of the cervical os, cervical vagina hard and thick, healthy fundus	Abdominal hysterectomy	Trendelenburg position and wide laparotomy preferred	
3ª	Uterus fully grasped but mobile; broad ligaments, bladder, and rectum free	Abdominal hysterectomy plus pelvic node emptying	Lymph nodes are palpated in the pelvis	
4ª	Immotile uterus, vaginal wall invasion, bladder, or rectum taken	If inoperable, do not perform resections	Palliative management	

Concepción Beistegui (directed by Dr. Javier Hoyo) and Hospital Morelos, where an "aseptic operating room" was opened (directed by Dr. Ramón Macias).¹⁸

MILITARY LIFE

He was discharged from the Mexican Army, and in his book Monografías de clínica quirúrgica, he appears in the presentation as Ex-Mayor Médico-Cirujano del Ejército Nacional, indicating that by the year 1899, he was no longer incorporated to the Health Service.¹⁸ In his second period as a military doctor, Suárez Gamboa helped to organize the Military Health Service of the Constitutionalist Army of Venustiano Carranza; together with Jesús Alemán Pérez,23 Suárez Gamboa accompanied in the second part of the revolution, the troops of General Pablo González and his division (Army Corps) of the northeast, as well as in the battles where Piedras Negras, Coahuila, was lost around September 29, 1913;²⁴ In November 1914 he was chief of the Carranza's Medical Corps that moved to Jiménez, Tamaulipas, to organize a Blood Hospital²⁵ until his last act of arms in the battle of El Ébano,⁵ where he died attending the wounded in the line of fire;²⁶ should not surprise us, since the rear line in El Chijol, Dr. Salvador Aguirre López also died because of

his outstanding work in the battle of El Chijol. Salvador Aguirre López was also killed by a grenade that exploded beside him.²⁷ As an additional note, his widow Mrs. Isabel Torres, was pensioned on December 28, 1934, with five pesos daily.²⁸

CONCLUSIONS

Our previous experience regarding the hospital trains of the Mexican Revolution and the battle of El Ébano allowed us to approach the existence of Dr. Ricardo Suárez-Gamboa, who passed away tragically. Ricardo Suárez-Gamboa, who died tragically, without forgetting his value as one of the initiators of the specialty of gynecology in our country,¹⁰ is considered a surgeon who gave the turn to surgical modernity for being the first Mexican doctor to propose a classification of cervical cancer, in order to take a criterion of operative conduct, and initiating the use of metal sutures in our country, among other contributions.

For all of the above, he remains a medical hero of the Mexican Revolution and an indispensable character who gave scientific elements of the transcendence of cancer of the reproductive system in women. This campaign would be formalized more than 90 years after his death.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the staff of the Nicolas León Libraries of the Department of History and Philosophy of Medicine of the Faculty of Medicine of the UNAM, and the Historical Archives of the National Academy of Medicine, for their help in this work.

REFERENCES

- 1. Thorwald J. The century of surgeons. Madrid: Ed. Ariel; 2016. pp. 23-45.
- 2. Quijano-Pitman F. History of surgery in San Luis Potosí. San Luis Potosí: Ed. Universitaria Potosina; 1994.
- 3. Alcántara Herrera A. Mexican surgical chronology. Ciruj. 1951; 4: 1-45.
- Quijano-Pitman F. Chapter VII: Surgery. In: Arechiga H, Somolinos Palencia J. Mexican medical contributions to universal knowledge. Mexico: Ed. Fondo de Cultura Económica; 1993. pp. 169-196.
- 5. De la Torre-Pérez A, Rodríguez-Paz CA. The battle of El Ébano, a description of the achievements of medical, surgical and sanitary technology in the Mexican Revolution. Cir Gen. 2018; 40: 286-290.
- 6. Suarez-Gamboa R. Ligatures and lost metallic sutures. Gac Med Mex. 1909; 4: 141-167.
- Pérez-Siller J, Cramaussel CH. México Francia: Memoria de una sensibilidad común; Siglos XIX-XX. Mexico: Ediciones BUAP/El Colegio de Michoacán/ CEMCA; 2004. Vol II. p. 309.
- Servín-Massieu M. In the footsteps of Urrutia, Eminent physician or repressive politician? Mexico: Plaza y Valdés editores; 2005. p. 29.
- 9. Velázquez-Uriarte J. Some notes for the history of gynecology in Mexico. Gynecol Obstet Méx. 2008; 76: 695-699.
- Uribe-Elías R. Mexican surgery in gynecology and obstetrics during the 19th century. Cir. 2007; 75: 139-144.
- 11. Culter T. The surgeons practical guide. Dressing, and in the methodic application of bandages. Philadelphia: Haswell, Barrington, and Haswell; 1838. p. 48. Available in: https://books.google.com.mx/books?id= t0BPAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA48&lpg=PA48&dq=dr.+saut er+of+constance&source=bl&ots=DCep6x3Pzn&si g=fkZtYcKEgKQExSyE6b7oYnhbTlY&hl=en&sa=X&v ed=2ahUKEwiLv8us_K7fAhVMOK0KHdzmCboQ6AE wAnoECAQQAQ#v=onepage&q=dr.%20sauter%20 of%20constance&f=false
- 12. Suárez-Gamboa R. Monographs of clinical surgery; first book, hysterectomy. Tipografía de la Oficina impresora del timbre, Palacio Nacional. Mexico: 1899. pp. 21-28.
- 13. Suárez-Gamboa R. On the experiences carried out in Havana, regarding the transmission of yellow fever. Gac Med Méx. 1901; 1: 143-151.
- 14. Suárez-Gamboa R. An excerpt from my article "La anesthesia" (1st part). Gac Med Mex. 1901; 4: 97-100.

- Suárez-Gamboa R. An excerpt from my article "La anesthesia" (2nd part). Gac Med Mex. 1901; 4: 105-106.
- Suárez-Gamboa R. Surgical psycho-neurosis. Gac Med Mex. 1910; 5: 250-267.
- 17. Suarez-Gamboa R. A case of thoracorraphy. Gac Med Mex. 1912; 7: 478-481.
- Suárez-Gamboa R. Monographs of clinical surgery; first book, hysterectomy. Tipografía de la Oficina impresora del timbre, Palacio Nacional. Mexico: 1899. pp. 1-14.
- Erosa-Barbachano A. The School of Medicine of Merida Yucatan. Mérida: Ed. Universidad Autónoma de Yucatán; 1997. p. 115.
- Suárez-Gamboa R. Monographs of clinical surgery; first book, hysterectomy. Tipografía de la oficina impresora del timbre, Palacio Nacional. Mexico: 1899. pp. 106-109.
- 21. Hernández-Cornejo MA, Dueñas-Soto C. The social care process of women with cervical uterine cancer in the Cinta Larga hospital [Thesis]. Pachuca: Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Hidalgo; 2007.
- 22. Zuckermann C. Preliminary. Rev Inst Nal Cancerol. 1964; 16: 356-357.
- 23. Moreno-Guzmán A. Military medicine in Mexico in 1915. Gac Med Mex. 2016; 152: 269-273.
- 24. Gorostiza FJ. Railroads in the Mexican Revolution. Mexico: Siglo XXI Editores; 2010. p. 241.
- Gonzalez MW. The terrible duel of Zuazua. In: González MW. With Carranza; episodes of the Constitutionalist Revolution 1913-1914. Mexico: SEP/ Biblioteca Pública INEHRM; 2015. pp. 187-188.
- 26. Rivera F. Study formulated on the prophylactic and curative measures taken by the medical service of the Northeastern Army Corps to prevent the development of malaria in the campaign of El ébano in 1915. Memorias de la Primera Convención de Médicos Militares. Mexico: 1936. pp. 126-130.
- Rivera De la Torre A. El Ébano, the 72 days of its heroic defense. Imprenta del Departamento de Estado Mayor, Secretaría de Guerra y Marina. Mexico: 1915. p. 20.
- Rulings, XXXVI legislature. Available at: http:// www.diputados.gob.mx/sedia/biblio/virtual/dip/ cdn_compila/leg36.pdf

Ethical considerations and responsibility: data privacy. Following the protocols established in our work center, we declare that we have followed the protocols on patient data privacy and preserved their anonymity.

Funding: no financial support was received for the preparation of this work.

Disclosure: none of the authors have a conflict of interest in the conduct of this study.

Correspondence: Carlos Agustín Rodríguez-Paz, MD. E-mail: rodriguezpazca@ucslp.net



www.medigraphic.com/cirujanogeneral

Cirujano General is the official journal of the Asociación Mexicana de Cirugía General, A.C. (Mexican Association of General Surgery). The journal publishes original articles, clinical case reports, review topics, history, philosophy of medicine and bioethics, case studies, invited editorials, letters to the editor, and miscellaneous news. For acceptance, all articles are analyzed by at least two reviewers and finally ratified by the Editorial Committee.

Cirujano General accepts the guidelines the *International Committee of Medical Journal Editors* (ICMJE) established. The updated 2021 version of the *Uniform requirements for manuscripts submitted to biomedical journals* is available at www.icmje.org. A Spanish translation of this version of the "Uniform requirements for manuscripts submitted to biomedical journals" is available at: www. medigraphic.com/requisitos.

Submission of the manuscript implies that it is an unpublished paper (except in abstract form) and will not be submitted to any other journal. Accepted articles become the property of the Surgeon General and may not be published (either in whole or in part) elsewhere without the written consent of the editor.

The senior author should keep a complete copy of the original manuscript.

Articles should be sent to the Web Editor at the following e-mail address: https://revision.medigraphic.com/ RevisionCirGen/revistas/revista5/index.php.

- I. Original article: It can be basic or clinical research and has the following characteristics:
 - a) Title: Representative of the study findings. Add a short title for internal pages (It is essential to identify whether it is a randomized or control study).
 - b) Structured abstract: Must include an introduction, objective, material and methods, results, and conclusions; in Spanish and English, with keywords that must correspond to those accepted by PubMed in its MeSH section.
 - c) Introduction: Describes the studies that allow understanding of the objective of the work,

which is mentioned at the end of the introduction (the objectives, hypothesis, and approaches are not written separately).

- d) Material and methods: Important part that must explain in detail how the research was developed and, especially, that it is reproducible (mention the type of study, observational or experimental).
- e) Results: In this section, according to the study's design, all the results should be presented; they are not commented on. If there are tables of results or figures (graphs or images), they should be presented separately, on the last pages, with figure captions.
- f) Discussion: Based on the updated bibliography supporting the results. Conclusions are mentioned at the end of this section.
- g) **Bibliography:** It should follow the specifications described below.
- h) **Number of pages or pages:** a maximum of 12. Figures: 5-7 maximum, which must be original.
- II. Clinical case report 1 to 5 cases. Case series includes six or more clinical cases.
 - a) Authorship or authors: It is recommended to include a maximum of five authors who have participated in the preparation of the article or manuscript and not only in the management of the patient. The others should be included in the list of acknowledgments.
 - b) **Title:** Must specify whether it is a clinical case or a series of clinical cases.
 - c) Abstract: With keywords and abstract with keywords. It should briefly describe the case and the importance of its publication.
 - d) **Introduction:** The disease or attributable cause is discussed. The most relevant medical literature regarding the clinical case is summarized.
 - e) Presentation of the clinical case(s): clinical description, laboratory and others. Mention the time in which these cases were collected. Figures or tables should be on separate sheets.

- f) Discussion: The most recent bibliographic references or those necessary to understand the importance or relevance of the clinical case are discussed.
- g) Number of pages: maximum 10. Figures: 5-8.

III. Review article:

- a) **Title:** specifying the subject to be dealt with.
- b) **Abstract:** In Spanish and English, with keywords.
- c) Introduction and, if necessary, subtitles: It may begin with the subject to be dealt with without division.

- d) **Bibliography:** Recent and necessary for the text.
- e) **Number of pages:** 20 maximum. Figures: 5-8 maximum.
- IV. Letter to the Editor: This section is for documents of social interest, normative, and complementary to one of the research articles. It does not have a unique format.
- V. Article on the history, philosophy of medicine, and bioethics: As in "letter to the editor," the author can develop his/her topic. A maximum of five images are accepted.

Manuscripts inadequately prepared or not accompanied by the checklist will be accepted with being submitted for review.

The requirements are shown in the checklist. The format is available at www.medigraphic.com/pdfs/cirgen/cg-instr.pdf (PDF). Authors should download it and check each section as each publication requirement is fulfilled.

CHECKLIST

GENERAL ASPECTS

- Articles should be submitted in electronic format. Authors should have a copy for reference.
- ☐ The manuscript should be typed in Arial 12-point font, double-spaced, in letter size, with 2.5 cm margins on each side. The standard page comprises 30 lines, 60 characters each (1,800 per page). Words in another language should be presented in italics.
- The text should be presented as follows: 1) title page,
 2) abstract and keywords [in Spanish and English],
 3) introduction, 4) material and methods, 5) results,
 6) discussion, 7) acknowledgments, 8) references, 9) appendices, 10) text of tables, and 11) figure captions.
 Each section should start on a separate sheet. The format can be modified in review articles and clinical cases if necessary.
- Consecutive numbering of each page, starting with the title page.
- Write down the name, address, and telephone number of three probable reviewers not belonging to the working group to whom the article can be sent for review.

TEXT

Title page

- Includes:
 - Title in Spanish and English, maximum 15 words and short title of no more than 40 characters,
 - Name(s) of the authors in the order in which they will be published; if the paternal and maternal surnames are noted, they may appear linked with a short hyphen,
 - 3) Credits to each of the authors,
 - 4) Institution(s) where the work was performed.
 - Address for correspondence: complete address, telephone, fax, and e-mail address of the responsible author.

Summary

- In Spanish and English, with a maximum length of 200 words.
- Structured according to the order of information in the text:

- 1) Introduction,
- 2) Objectives,
- 3) Material and methods,
- 4) Results and
- 5) Conclusions.
- Avoid using abbreviations, but if their use is indispensable, their meaning should be specified the first time they are cited. Symbols and abbreviations of units of measurement in international use do not require specification of their meaning.
- Keywords in Spanish and English, without abbreviations, with a minimum of three and a maximum of six. They must correspond to those accepted by PubMed in its MeSH section.

Text

- Manuscript not exceeding ten pages, divided into subtitles to facilitate reading.
- The names, initials, or file numbers of the patients studied should be omitted.
- Abbreviations are accepted but must be preceded by what they mean the first time they are cited and the units of measurement of international use to which the Mexican government is subject.
- Drugs, medicines, and chemical substances should be named by their generic name, and the dosage and routes of administration should be indicated according to the international nomenclature.
- The statistical methods used should be described at the end of the Material and Methods section.

Acknowledgments

Acknowledgments and details of support, drug(s), and equipment(s) provided should be cited before references. Send written permission from the persons to be cited by name.

References

From 25 to 30 in original articles, 25 to 35 in review articles, and 10 to 15 in clinical cases. They are identified in the text with Arabic numerals and in progressive order according to the sequence in which they appear in the text.

- References cited only in tables or figure captions should be numbered according to the sequence in which the identification of the table or figure first appears in the text.
- Personal communications and unpublished data will be cited without footnote numbering.
- The title of periodicals should be abbreviated according to the recommendations of the INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE of MEDICAL JOURNAL EDITORS (ICMJE) http://www.icmje.org/recommendations/browse/ manuscript-preparation/preparing-for-submission.html#g. Complete information should be provided for each reference, including the article's title, abbreviated journal title, year, volume, and initial and final pages. When there are more than six authors, the first six should be listed, and the abbreviation et al. should be added.

Examples of articles from periodicals with up to six authors:

Ohlsson J, Wranne B. Noninvasive assessment of valve area in patients with aortic stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1986;7:501-508.

Seven or more authors:

San-Luis R, Munayer J, Aldana T, Acosta JL, Ramirez H, Campos A et al. Total anomalous pulmonary venous anomalous connection. Five years of experience. Rev Mex Cardiol. 1995; 6: 109-116.

Books, note edition when it is not the first one:

Myerowitz PD. Heart transplantation. 2nd ed. New York: Futura Publishing; 1987.

Book chapters:

Hardesty R, Griffith B. Combined heart-lung transplantation. In: Myerowitz PD. Heart transplantation. 2nd ed. New York: Futura Publishing; 1987. p. 125-140.

For more examples of reference formats, authors should consult:

www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/uniform_requirements. html

www.icmje.org

Authors should avoid citing articles from predatory or pseudo-review journals.

Pictures

It does not have.

	Yes, it does. Number (with a letter):	
	The information they contain is not repeated in the text or figures. A maximum of 50 percent plus one of the total number of pages of text is accepted.	
	They will be headed by the title and progressively marked with Roman numerals according to their appearance in the text.	
	The title of each table alone will explain its contents and allow correlation with the dimensioned text.	
	Articles citing "predatory" journals will not be accepted.	
Fig	jures	
	It does not have.	
	Yes, it does. Number (with a letter):	
	Photographs, drawings, graphs, and diagrams shall be considered as such. Professionals must design drawings. A maximum of 50 percent plus one of the total number of pages of text will be accepted. The information they contain is not repeated in the text or tables.	
	They are identified progressively with Arabic numerals according to the order of appearance in the text, remembering that progressive numbering includes photographs, drawings, graphs, and diagrams. Titles and explanations are presented separately.	
	The images appear in black and white in the printed version of the magazine. However, if the images submitted are in color, they will appear as such (in color) in the electronic version on the Internet. If the author wishes to have them also published in color in the printed version, he/she must pay the corresponding fee according to the publishing house.	
Ph	otographs	
	It does not have.	
	Yes, it does. Number (with a letter): In color:	

- They must be of excellent quality, black and white or color. The images must be in JPG (JPEG) format, without compression, and in a resolution greater than or equal to 300 dpi. The dimensions should be at least postcard size (12.5 × 8.5 cm), (5.0 × 3.35 inches). Excessive contrasts should be avoided.
- Photographs showing identifiable patients must be accompanied by written permission for publication from the patient. If such permission is not possible, a portion of the patient's face should be covered in the photograph.
- Each photograph will be numbered according to the number assigned to it in the text of the article.

Figure feet

- It does not have.
- Yes, it does. Number (with a letter): _____
- They are marked with Arabic numerals corresponding to them according to the global sequence.

Ethical aspects

- ☐ The procedures in humans must comply with the principles established in the Declaration of Helsinki of the World Medical Association (WMA) and with the provisions of the General Health Law Title Five and Regulations of the General Health Law on Health Research, and NOM-012-SSA3-2012, which establishes the criteria for the execution of health research projects in humans, as well as with the rules of the Research Ethics Committee of the institution where they are carried out. In case of having a registration number, please provide it.
- Experiments on animals shall comply with the National Research Council's standards, NOM-062-ZOO-1999, technical specifications for the production, care, and use of laboratory animals and those of the institution where they are performed.
- Any other situation considered of interest should be notified in writing to the editors.
- Disclosure of financial and non-financial relationships and activities, formerly known as conflict of interest.

Copyright transfer letter. Publication of an article in the journal Cirujano General, of the Mexican Association of General Surgery.



The authors certify that the article above is an original work and has not been previously published in any physical or digital media. They have obtained the necessary authorizations, licenses, or assignments for its publication with the entire agreement of the undersigned.

They also state that all authors participated in the creation of the article and that if accepted for publication in Cirujano General, the copyright will remain the property of the journal.

I (we), the undersigned, assign to the Asociación Mexicana de Cirugía General, A.C. and its journal Cirujano General, the printing and online dissemination rights of the article above to be published in the journal Cirujano General, as well as the right to adapt and reproduce it in printed or digital format, in any of its supports (Blu-ray, CD-ROM, DVD, Epub, PDF, etcetera), as well as to disseminate and publish it in digital networks, particularly on the Internet, or any other analogous, digital or electronic procedure, existing or future, applying the necessary protection systems.), as well as to disseminate and publish it on digital networks, in particular on the Internet, or any other analogous, digital or electronic procedure existing or future, applying the necessary protection systems.



The author or co-authors may not publish the article in other documents (journals, books, current or future physical or digital media) after its publication in the Cirujano General journal, respecting the copyright policy in force. The authors declare that the signature is genuine and autographed.

The AMCG reserves the right to exploit it again at the initiative of current or future projects.

This assignment does not contemplate or imply the payment of royalties.

Send this signed document in original by mail to the AMCG address, or scanned by e-mail to the AMCG editorial assistant (revista@amcg.org.mx), keeping the original.



Asociación Mexicana de Cirugía General, A.C.

Libraries and Indexes in which the Journal Cirujano General has been registered and indexed

Medigraphic, literatura biomédica http://www.medigraphic.org.mx

Free Medical Journals http://www.freemedicaljournals.com/f.php?f=es

Biblioteca de la Universidad de Regensburg, Alemania https://ezb.uni-regensburg.de/

> Biblioteca del Instituto de Investigaciones Biomédicas, UNAM http://www.revbiomedicas.unam.mx/

> > Universidad de Laussane, Suiza http://www2.unil.ch/perunil/pu2/

LATINDEX. Sistema Regional de Información n Línea para Revistas Científicas de América Latina, el Caribe, España y Portugal https://www.latindex.org/

Biblioteca Virtual en Salud (BVS, Brasil) http://portal.revistas.bvs.br

Biblioteca del Instituto de Biotecnología UNAM http://www.biblioteca.ibt.unam.mx/revistas.php

Fundación Ginebrina para la Formación y la Investigación Médica, Suiza https://www.gfmer.ch/Medical_journals/ Revistas_medicas_acceso_libre.htm

PERIODICA (Índice de Revistas Latinoamericanas en Ciencias) UNAM https://periodica.dgb.unam.mx

> Google Académico https://scholar.google.es

Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung, Berlin WZB https://www.wzb.eu/de/literatur-daten/bereiche/bibliothek

Virtuelle Bibliothek Universität des Saarlandes, German https://ezb.uni-regensburg.de/ezeit/search.ph tml?bibid=SULB&colors=7&lang=de

> Biblioteca electrónica de la Universidad de Heidelberg, Alemania https://ezb.uni-regensburg.de/ezeit/search.pht ml?bibid=UBHE&colors=3&lang=de

Biblioteca de la Universidad de Bielefeld, Alemania https://ub-bielefeld.digibib.net/eres

FMV, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Buenos Aires https://www.fmv-uba.org.ar/biblioteca/Default.htm

> University of Washington Libraries http://guides.lib.washington.edu/ejournals

Yeungnam University College of Medicine Medical Library, Korea http://medlib.yu.ac.kr/journal/subdb1.asp?table=to tdb&Str=%B1%E2%C5%B8&Field=ncbi_sub

> Journals for free http://www.journals4free.com/

Research Institute of Molecular Pathology (IMP)/ Institute of Molecular Biotechnology (IMBA) Electronic Journals Library, Viena, Austria https://cores.imp.ac.at/max-perutz-library/journals/

> Scielo México http://www.scielo.es

Biblioteca de la Universidad de Ciencias Aplicadas y Artes, Hochschule Hannover (HSH), Alemania https://hs-hannover.de/ueber-uns/organisation/ bibliothek/literatursuche/elektronische-zeitsch riften/?libconnect%5Bsubject%5D=23

> Max Planck Institute for Comparative Public Law and International Law https://ezb.uni-regensburg.de/ezeit/index.pht ml?bibid=MPIV&colors=7&lang=en

Library of the Carinthia University of Applied Sciences (Austria) https://ezb.uni-regensburg.de/ezeit/fl.phtml ?bibid=FHTK&colors=7&lang=en

Biblat (Bibliografía Latinoamericana en revistas de investigación científica y social) UNAM https://biblat.unam.mx

Universitat de Barcelona. MIAR (Matriz de Información para el Análisis de Revistas) https://miar.ub.edu/issn/1405-0099